
SOPRA STERIA UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2020 157

5. 2020 Consolidated Financial 
Statements

Consolidated statement of net income 158

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 159

Consolidated statement of financial position 160

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 161

Consolidated cash flow statement 162

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 163

Statutory Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial statements 224



5
2020 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated statement of net income

SOPRA STERIA UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2020158

Consolidated statement of net income

(in millions of euros) Notes
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

Revenue 4.1 4,262.9 4,434.0
Staff costs 5.1 -2,677.7 -2,668.5
External expenses and purchases 4.2.1 -1,062.0 -1,234.5
Taxes and duties -38.8 -32.5
Depreciation, amortisation, provisions and impairment -189.0 -157.9
Other current operating income and expenses 4.2.2 4.8 13.7

Operating profit on business activity 300.2 354.3
as% of revenue 7.0% 8.0%
Expenses related to stock options and related items 5.4 -4.2 -11.1
Amortisation of allocated intangible assets 8.2 -34.8 -28.9

Profit from recurring operations 261.2 314.2
as% of revenue 6.1% 7.1%
Other operating income and expenses 4.2.3 -58.9 -31.0

Operating profit 202.3 283.2
as% of revenue 4.7% 6.4%
Cost of net financial debt 12.1.1 -9.9 -9.9
Other financial income and expenses 12.1.2 -15.4 -14.7
Tax expense 6.1 -60.4 -87.3
Net profit from associates 10.1 2.3 1.8

Net profit from continuing operations 118.9 173.1
Net profit from discontinued operations - -

Consolidated net profit 118.9 173.1
as% of revenue 2.8% 3.9%
Non-controlling interests 14.1.5 12.2 12.7

NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP 106.8 160.3

as% of revenue 2.5% 3.6%

EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN EUROS) Notes

Basic earnings per share 14.2 5.27 7.92
Diluted earnings per share 14.2 5.25 7.88
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(in millions of euros) Notes
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

Consolidated net profit 118.9 173.1

Other comprehensive income:

Actuarial gains and losses on pension plans 5.3 -58.3 -14.5
Tax impact 18.0 3.9
Related to associates 10.2 -0.1 -0.2
Change in fair value of financial assets (non-consolidated securities) -0.6 -0.1

Subtotal of items recognised in equity and not reclassifiable 
to profit or loss -41.1 -11.0

Translation differences 14.1.4 -57.9 38.2
Change in net investment hedges 14.8 -14.9
Tax impact on net investment hedges -4.9 5.1
Change in cash flow hedges -3.8 -2.7
Tax impact on cash flow hedges 0.9 1.1
Related to associates -6.6 0.9

Subtotal of items recognised in equity and reclassifiable 
to profit or loss -57.6 27.7

Other comprehensive income, total net of tax -98.7 16.7

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 20.3 189.8

Non-controlling interests 14.1.5 6.6 13.7
Attributable to the Group 13.7 176.1
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Consolidated statement of financial position

Assets (in millions of euros) Notes 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Goodwill 8.1 1,843.2 1,813.9
Intangible assets 8.2 232.9 272.9
Property, plant and equipment 8.3 132.5 143.4
Right-of-use assets 9.1 290.3 320.4
Equity-accounted investments 10.2 193.4 195.0
Other non-current assets 7.1 74.0 58.3
Retirement benefits and similar obligations 5.3 3.1 2.0
Deferred tax assets 6.3 156.7 120.0

Non-current assets 2,926.1 2,926.0
Trade receivables and related accounts 7.2 954.6 1,074.3
Other current assets 7.3 410.6 348.3
Cash and cash equivalents 12.2 245.5 197.5

Current assets 1,610.7 1,620.1
Assets held for sale - 0.0

TOTAL ASSETS 4,536.7 4,546.2

Liabilities and equity (in millions of euros) Notes 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Share capital 20.5 20.5
Share premium 531.5 531.5
Consolidated reserves and other reserves 845.8 820.7

Equity attributable to the Group 1,397.8 1,372.7

Non-controlling interests 47.6 49.5

TOTAL EQUITY 14.1 1,445.4 1,422.2

Financial debt – Non-current portion 12.3 564.5 494.4
Lease liabilities – Non-current portion 9.2 226.2 257.2
Deferred tax liabilities 6.3 43.3 22.0
Retirement benefits and similar obligations 5.3 393.4 352.0
Non-current provisions 11.1 89.4 62.3
Other non-current liabilities 7.4 104.1 112.2

Non-current liabilities 1,421.1 1,300.0
Financial debt – Current portion 12.3 106.6 217.1
Lease liabilities – Current portion 9.2 91.3 84.9
Current provisions 11.1 26.6 14.8
Trade payables and related accounts 278.6 286.3
Other current liabilities 7.5 1,167.1 1,220.9

Current liabilities 1,670.2 1,823.9
Liabilities held for sale - 0.0

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,091.3 3,124.0

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 4,536.7 4,546.2
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

(in millions of euros)

Share
capital

Share
premium

Treasury
shares

Consolidated
reserves

and retained
earnings

Other
compre-
hensive
income

Total
attribu-

table
to the
Group

Non-
controlling

interests Total

At 31/12/2018 20.5 531.5 -42.8 903.9 -116.9 1,296.2 32.9 1,329.2
Share capital transactions - - - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - - 8.9 - 8.9 0.2 9.1
Transactions in treasury shares - - -3.2 -9.0 - -12.2 - -12.2
Ordinary dividends - - - -37.6 - -37.6 -2.3 -39.8
Changes in scope - - - -0.5 - -0.5 20.8 20.3
First-time application of IFRS 16 - - - -22.9 - -22.9 -0.4 -23.3
Other movements - - - -35.3 -0.1 -35.4 -15.4 -50.8

Shareholder transactions - - -3.2 -96.3 -0.1 -99.7 2.9 -96.8
Net profit for the period - - - 160.3 - 160.3 12.7 173.1
Other comprehensive income - - - - 15.8 15.8 0.9 16.7

Comprehensive income 
for the period - - - 160.3 15.8 176.1 13.7 189.8

At 31/12/2019 20.5 531.5 -46.1 967.9 -101.2 1,372.7 49.5 1,422.2
Share capital transactions - - - - - - - -
Share-based payments - - - 4.1 - 4.1 0.2 4.3
Transactions in treasury shares - - 9.9 -7.4 - 2.5 - 2.5
Ordinary dividends - - - - - - -4.4 -4.4
Changes in scope - - - 3.1 - 3.1 3.6 6.7
Other movements - - - 1.7 0.0 1.8 -8.0 -6.2

Shareholder transactions - - 9.9 1.6 0.0 11.5 -8.6 2.9
Net profit for the period - - - 106.8 - 106.8 12.2 118.9
Other comprehensive income - - - - -93.1 -93.1 -5.5 -98.7

Comprehensive income for
the period - - - 106.8 -93.1 13.7 6.6 20.3

AT 31/12/2020 20.5 531.5 -36.2 1,076.3 -194.2 1,397.8 47.6 1,445.4
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Consolidated cash flow statement

(in millions of euros) Notes
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

Consolidated net profit (including non-controlling interests) 118.9 173.1
Net increase in depreciation, amortisation and provisions 236.7 199.8
Unrealised gains and losses related to changes in fair value 5.6 -2.2
Expenses and income related to stock options and related items 5.4 4.3 9.1
Gains and losses on disposal 0.5 -6.5
Share of net profit/(loss) of equity-accounted companies 10.1 -2.3 -1.8
Cost of net financial debt (including cost related to lease liabilities) 12.1.1 17.5 19.8
Tax expense 6 60.4 87.3

Cash from operations before change in working capital requirement 
(A) 441.6 478.6
Tax paid (B) -82.9 -81.0
Change in operating working capital requirement (W.C.R.) (C) 13.1 43.0 25.3

Net cash from operating activities (D) = (A+B+C) 401.7 422.9
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13.1 -53.6 -49.8
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.4 0.1
Purchase of non-current financial assets -2.6 -5.1
Proceeds from sale of non-current financial assets 0.0 3.6
Cash impact of changes in scope -76.1 -62.8
Dividends received (equity-accounted companies, non-consolidated securities) 0.0 2.9
Proceeds from/(Payments on) loans and advances granted 0.6 -1.2
Net interest received -0.0 0.1

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities (E) -131.4 -112.2
Proceeds from shareholders for capital increases -0.0 -0.0
Purchase and sale of treasury shares -10.9 -2.8
Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company 14.1.3 -0.0 -37.6
Dividends paid to the minority interests of consolidated companies -4.3 -2.3
Proceeds from/(Payments on) borrowings 13.1 -53.7 -72.3
Lease payments -109.4 -109.8
Net interest paid (excluding interest on lease liabilities) -9.4 -11.3
Additional contributions related to defined-benefit pension plans 5.3.1 -25.5 -24.1
Other cash flows relating to financing activities 0.1 -15.2

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities (F) -213.1 -275.2

Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates (G) -4.8 -2.6

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (D+E+F+G) 52.3 32.8

Opening cash position 192.6 159.8
Closing cash position 13 245.0 192.6
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ACCOUNTING POLICIESNOTE 1

The main accounting policies applied in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements are presented below. They have
been applied consistently for all of the financial years presented.

Basis of preparation1.1.
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as published by
the IASB and adopted by the European Union. Information on these
standards is provided on the European Commission website:
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-
reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/financial-
reporting_en#ifrs-financial-statements.

Application of new standards 1.2.
and interpretations
New mandatory standards and interpretations1.2.1.

The new standards, amendments to existing standards and
interpretations adopted by the European Union are required for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020 are
mainly the following:

Amendment to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business: This amendmentp

had no impact on the period;

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest Ratep

Benchmark Reform: At this stage, the Group has not identified
any material impact of this amendment;

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements andp

to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors. These changes concern how the term “material” is
defined.

Application of the amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions is mandatory for periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020. It was adopted by the European Union on 12 October. This
amendment introduces a practical expedient to account for a rent
concession obtained as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic as if it
were not a lease modification, and to recognise the impact directly
in profit or loss for the period. It may be adopted early, and its
effect on the period is not material.

Standards and interpretations published by the 1.2.2.
IASB but not applied early

No new standards or interpretations were published by the IASB.

Impact of the Covid-19 crisis 1.3.
on the consolidated financial 
statements for the period

The Covid-19 pandemic has caused major operational difficulties in
terms of business continuity, organisational adaptation, personal
health and safety and compliance with public health measures. It
has had an impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
as well as on the estimates it uses to measure certain assets,
liabilities, income and expenses and on liquidity risk.

In terms of the presentation of the financial statements, the Group’s
performance was broadly affected across all the lines of its
income statement. In France, neither the Autorité des Marchés
Financiers (AMF) nor the Autorité des Normes Comptables (ANC)
recommend using non-recurring profit or loss line items to
systematically recognise the consequences of Covid-19. Instead,
they recommend providing a targeted line-by-line explanation in the
notes, and only using non-recurring profit or loss line items to
recognise the income and expenses that are usually recorded there.

As such, the Group recognised the entire impact of operations not
running at full capacity due to the crisis within operating profit on
business activity. This impact included the suspension or
discontinuation of contracts with customers, partially offset by a
reduction in staff costs related to the implementation of furlough
measures and by the reduction in certain expense items, such as
travel expenses. In parallel, in certain countries it began to
implement business reorganisation and restructuring measures, the
impact of which was recognised within Other operating income and
expenses, part of Operating profit (see Note 4.2.3), in addition to
the measures that had already been decided prior to the crisis.

In addition, the consequences of the crisis led to the recognition of
impairment losses. Certain assets (such as customer relationships
and operating licences) were written down because the economic
benefits expected no longer support the carrying amount. The
Covid-19 crisis is the sole reason for this situation. The impact of
these asset impairment charges was recognised within Other
operating income and expenses, part of Operating profit (see
Note 4.2.3), in addition to the measures that had already been
decided prior to the crisis.

Finally, the Group incurred additional logistics costs to allow
employees to work remotely and to address the health-related
issues – social distancing in particular – at all its offices. These
non-recurring, unusual additional costs were treated as Other
operating income and expenses within Operating profit (see
Note 4.2.3).

The crisis has also affected the estimates the Group uses to measure
certain assets, liabilities, income and expenses. In particular, this is
mainly relevant and decisive for the assumptions and estimates used
to measure the recoverable amount of intangible assets, primarily
goodwill, as described in Note 8.1.3.

Finally, the assessment of the consequences of the crisis on liquidity
risk is detailed in Note 12.5.1.
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Material estimates and 1.4.
accounting judgments

The preparation of financial statements entails the use of estimates
and assumptions in measuring certain consolidated assets and
liabilities, as well as certain income statement items. Group
management is also required to exercise judgment in the
application of its accounting policies.

Such estimates and judgments, which are continually updated, are
based both on historical information and on a reasonable
anticipation of future events according to the circumstances.
However, given the uncertainty implicit in assumptions as to future
events, the related accounting estimates may differ from the
ultimate actual results.

The main assumptions and estimates that may leave scope for
material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the subsequent period are as follows:

measurement of the recoverable amount of property, plant andp

equipment and intangible assets, and of goodwill in particular,
which was particularly relevant in this period (see Note 8.1);

measurement of the recoverable value of shares held inp

associated companies recorded in the balance sheet (see
Note 10.2);

measurement of retirement benefit obligations (see Note 5.3);p

revenue recognition (see Note 4.1);p

lease terms and the valuation of assets and liabilities recognisedp

for leased assets (see Note 9);

measurement of deferred tax assets (see Note 6.3);p

amounts payable to non-controlling interests (see Note 7.4);p

provisions for contingencies (see Note 11.1).p

Finally, amid the current coronavirus crisis, Group managementp

believes there is no uncertainty concerning its status as a going
concern given the healthy level of its liquidity and the sustained
level thereof throughout the year (see Note 12).

Format of the financial 1.5.
statements and foreign 
currency translation
Format of the financial statements1.5.1.

With regard to the presentation of its consolidated financial
statements, Sopra Steria Group applies Recommendation 2013-03
of the French Accounting Standards Authority (Autorité des Normes
Comptables – ANC) of 7 November 2013 on the format of the
income statement, the cash flow statement and the statement of
changes in equity.

indicator is used internally by management to assess performance. It
corresponds to Profit from recurring operations before:

The format of the income statement was adapted several years ago
to improve the presentation of the Company’s performance, with
the addition of a financial aggregate known as Operating profit on
business activity before Profit from recurring operations. This

the expense relating to the costs and benefits granted to thep

recipients of stock option, free share and employee share
ownership plans;

the amortisation of allocated intangible assets.p

Operating profit is then obtained by taking Profit from recurring
operations and subtracting Other operating income and
expenses. The latter contains any material items of operating
income and expenses that are unusual, abnormal, infrequent or
unpredictable, presented separately in order to give a clearer picture
of performance based on ordinary activities.

Finally, in the analysis of Change in net financial debt, the Group
splits out EBITDA. This figure corresponds to Operating profit on
business activity, after adding back in the depreciation, amortisation
and provisions included in the latter indicator.

Foreign currency translation1.5.2.
Functional and presentation currenciesa-

Items included in the financial statements of each Group entity are
measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which that entity operates, i.e. its “functional currency”.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, the
functional and presentation currency of the Sopra Steria Group
parent company.

Translation of the financial statements of foreign b-
subsidiaries

The accounts of all Group entities whose functional currency differs
from the Group’s presentation currency are translated into euros as
follows:

assets and liabilities are translated at the end-of-periodp

exchange rate;

income, expenses and cash flows are translated at the averagep

exchange rate for the period;

all resulting foreign exchange differences are recognised as ap

distinct equity component under Other comprehensive income
and included in Accumulated translation reserves within equity
(see Note 14.1.4).

In accordance with IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreignp

Exchange Rates, translation gains and losses arising from the
translation of net investments in foreign operations are
recognised as a distinct component of equity. Translation gains
and losses in respect of intercompany loans are considered an
integral part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign
subsidiaries in question.

When a foreign operation is divested, the cumulative translation
difference is recycled to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss
arising on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
foreign operations are treated as assets and liabilities of the
operation and, as such, are translated at the end-of-period
exchange rate.
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The primary applicable exchange rates for the translation of the main foreign currencies used within the Group are as follows:

�1/Currency

Average rate for the period Period-end rate

Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Danish krone 7.4542 7.4661 7.4409 7.4715
Norwegian krone 10.7228 9.8511 10.4703 9.8638
Swedish krona 10.4848 10.5891 10.0343 10.4468
Tunisian dinar 3.2015 3.2801 3.2898 3.1143
Moroccan dirham 10.8224 10.7649 10.8947 10.7311
US dollar 1.1422 1.1195 1.2271 1.1234
Canadian dollar 1.5300 1.4855 1.5633 1.4598
Singapore dollar 1.5742 1.5273 1.6218 1.5111
CFA franc (BCEAO) 655.9570 655.9570 655.9570 655.9570
CFA franc (BEAC) 655.9570 655.9570 655.9570 655.9570
Swiss franc 1.0705 1.1124 1.0802 1.0854
Bulgarian lev 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558 1.9558
Lebanese pound 1,729.8344 1,690.7353 1,875.0291 1,697.0740
Pound sterling 0.8897 0.8778 0.8990 0.8508
Brazilian real 5.8943 4.4134 6.3735 4.5157
Russian ruble 82.7248 72.4553 91.4671 69.9563
Indian rupee 84.6392 78.8361 89.6605 80.1870
Chinese yuan 7.8747 7.7355 8.0225 7.8205
Polish zloty 4.4430 4.2976 4.5597 4.2568

Translation of foreign currency transactionsc-

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the
functional currency at the exchange rate applying on the transaction
date. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising on settlement, as
well as those arising from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies at the
end-of-period exchange rate, are recognised in profit or loss under
Other current operating income and expenses for transactions
hedged against foreign currency risk and under Other financial
income and expenses for all other transactions.

Hyperinflation in Lebanond-

During the financial year, the Lebanese economy was determined to
be a hyperinflationary economy. IAS 29 Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies lays down the restatements that need
to be carried out in such circumstances.

The US dollar is the functional currency of the Group’s subsidiary in
Lebanon. As a result, the standard does not require any
adjustments.

SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATIONNOTE 2

Consolidation methods

Sopra Steria Group SA is the consolidating company.

The companies over which Sopra Steria Group has exclusivep

control are fully consolidated. An investor controls an investee
where that investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Consequently, an investor controls an investee if and
only if all the following criteria are met:

it has power over the investee;p

it is exposed – or has rights – to variable returns from itsp

involvement with the investee;

it has the ability to exercise its power over the investee in such a
way as to affect the amount of returns it obtains.

Investments in entities over which the Group exerts significant
influence (associates) are accounted for under the equity
method. Significant influence is deemed to exist, unless clearly
demonstrated not to be the case, when a parent company
directly or indirectly holds 20% or more of the voting rights of
the investee.

Intercompany transactions as well as balances and unrealised
profits on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated.

The accounts of all consolidated companies are prepared as at
31 December. Where applicable, those accounts have been
restated to ensure the consistency of accounting and
measurement rules applied by the Group.

The scope of consolidation is presented in Note 18.
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Main acquisitions2.1.
Sodifrance – On 16 September 2020, Sopra Steria Group finalised the acquisition of a controlling interest representing 94.03% of thep

share capital of Sodifrance, followed by a delisting offer to bring its interest to 100%. Sodifrance is a digital services company with
substantial expertise in the insurance and social security sector. The transaction will give Sopra Steria a leadership position in France in
these areas.

Sodifrance and its subsidiaries have been consolidated in
Sopra Steria’s financial statements from 16 September 2020
onwards.

Based on the current stage of the inventory of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, the Group has identified, valued and recognised
customer relationships for �18.0 million. This business is part of the
“France” cash-generating unit.

The provisional allocation of goodwill breaks down as follows:

(in millions of euros) Sodifrance

Total assets acquired 74.7
Total liabilities assumed -72.2

Total net assets acquired/(net liabilities assumed) 2.5
Minority interests -

Purchase price 60.5

GOODWILL 58.0

Fidor Solutions – On 31 December 2020, the Group acquired, via its Sopra Banking Software subsidiary, full ownership of Fidorp

Solutions’ share capital. Fidor Solutions has developed products and digital services that meet front- and middle-office challenges for
digital banking. This acquisition will significantly accelerate the pace of development and marketing of Sopra Banking Software’s digital
solutions.

This business is part of the “Sopra Banking Software”
cash-generating unit.

acquisition did not generate any goodwill. This allocation as of
31 December 2020 is provisional.

The net assets of Fidor Solutions (the sum of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed) corresponds to the price paid; as such, the

SAB – On 3 July 2019, Sopra Steria, via its subsidiary Sopra Banking Software, acquired 70% of the share capital of SAB, a groupp

considered to be one of France’s leading core banking software developers.

SAB and its subsidiaries have been consolidated in Sopra Steria’s
financial statements since 3 July 2019. Under the terms of this
acquisition, Sopra Banking Software granted SAB’s minority
shareholders a put option for their shares, representing the 30%
stake not yet owned by the Group. This option was exercised in
July 2020 at a value of �37.6 million (see Note 7.5).

Based on the inventory of assets acquired and liabilities assumed,
the Group identified, valued and recognised customer relationships
for �8.4 million and enterprise software for �9.2 million. This
business is part of the “Sopra Banking Software” cash-generating
unit.

The allocation of goodwill is now final and breaks down as follows:

(in millions of euros) SAB

Total assets acquired 56.9
Total liabilities assumed -49.1

Total net assets acquired/(net liabilities assumed) 7.8
Minority interests 2.3

Purchase price 70.4

GOODWILL 65.0
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Sopra Financial Technology GmbH – On 2 August 2019, Sopra Steria Group – the Group’s parent company – acquired 51% of thep

share capital of Sopra Financial Technology GmbH, the entity tasked by German banking network Sparda’s cooperative banks with the
development, maintenance and operation of their shared information system.

The identification of assets acquired and liabilities assumed has now
been completed, leading to the measurement and recognition of
�8.0 million in enterprise software.

as a distinct reporting unit. Due to its operational characteristics, it
constitutes its own cash-generating unit, which is included in the
“Other Europe” group.

The performance of Sopra Financial Technology GmbH is
individually monitored and Sopra Steria’s management identifies it

The allocation of goodwill breaks down as follows:

(in millions of euros) SFT

Total assets acquired 151.5
Total liabilities assumed -119.5

Total net assets acquired/(net liabilities assumed) 32.1
Minority interests 15.7

Purchase price 22.6

GOODWILL 6.3

Other – On 10 January 2020 the Group, via its subsidiary Galitt, acquired 100% of ADN’co, a French consulting firm specialising in thep

payment systems market. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed totalled �0.2 million, and goodwill totalled �2.0 million.

On 2 March 2020, the Group acquired cxpartners, a UK-based liabilities assumed totalled -�0.1 million, and provisional goodwill
consultancy specialising in customer experience and user-centred totalled �5.8 million.
design, via its subsidiary Sopra Steria Ltd. The assets acquired and

Business combinations

The Group applies IFRS 3 Business Combinations to the
identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of
business combinations. The acquisition of an asset or a group of
assets that does not constitute a business is recognised under
the standards applicable to those assets.

The Group recognises all business combinations by applying the
acquisition method, which consists in:

the measurement and recognition at fair value of thep

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Group
identifies and allocates these items on the basis of contract
provisions, economic conditions, and its accounting and
management policies and procedures;

the measurement of any non-controlling interest in thep

acquiree either at its fair value or based on its share of the fair
value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed;

the measurement and recognition at the acquisition date ofp

the difference (referred to as goodwill) between:

the purchase price of the acquiree plus the amount of any•
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and

the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and•
liabilities assumed.

The decision of how to measure non-controlling interests is
made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis and leads to the
recognition of either full goodwill (should the fair value method
be used) or partial goodwill (should a share of the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed be used).

The acquisition date is the date on which the Group effectively
obtains control of the acquiree.

The purchase price of the acquiree is the fair value, at the
acquisition date, of the elements of consideration transferred to
the seller in exchange for control of the acquiree, to the
exclusion of any consideration for a transaction separate from
the business combination.

If the initial accounting for a business combination can only be
determined provisionally for the reporting period in which the
combination takes place, the acquirer recognises the
combination using provisional amounts. The acquirer must then
recognise adjustments to those provisional amounts as the
accounting for the business combination is completed within
12 months of the acquisition date.

Other changes in scope2.2.
In 2020, no other material changes in scope took place.

On 28 June 2019, the Group sold 100% of its recruitment subsidiary in the United Kingdom, Sopra Steria Recruitment Ltd. It recorded a
gain on disposal of �1.4 million, net of costs to sell, which is shown under Other non-current operating income and expenses (see
Note 4.2).
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SEGMENT INFORMATIONNOTE 3

Results by reporting unit3.1.

a. France

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Revenue 1,655.6 1,813.1
Operating profit on business activity 111.9 6.8% 175.5 9.7%
Profit from recurring operations 104.8 6.3% 167.2 9.2%
Operating profit 84.9 5.1% 156.9 8.7%

b. United Kingdom

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Revenue 699.8 771.5
Operating profit on business activity 56.0 8.0% 56.1 7.3%
Profit from recurring operations 44.1 6.3% 43.8 5.7%
Operating profit 27.7 4.0% 42.3 5.5%

c. Other Europe

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Revenue 1,249.0 1,152.9
Operating profit on business activity 101.0 8.1% 77.4 6.7%
Profit from recurring operations 96.5 7.7% 73.0 6.3%
Operating profit 82.4 6.6% 66.1 5.7%

d. Sopra Banking Software

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Revenue 421.6 438.9
Operating profit on business activity 10.5 2.5% 4.9 1.1%
Profit from recurring operations -4.1 -1.0% -8.9 -2.0%
Operating profit -10.6 -2.5% -18.0 -4.1%

e. Other Solutions

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Revenue 236.9 257.5
Operating profit on business activity 20.8 8.8% 40.3 15.7%
Profit from recurring operations 19.9 8.4% 39.1 15.2%
Operating profit 17.9 7.5% 35.9 14.0%

f. Group

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Revenue 4,262.9 4,434.0
Operating profit on business activity 300.2 7.0% 354.3 8.0%
Profit from recurring operations 261.2 6.1% 314.2 7.1%
Operating profit 202.3 4.7% 283.2 6.4%
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Under IFRS 8, segment information is based on internal
management data used by the Chief Executive Officer, the
company officer with ultimate responsibility for the Group’s
operational decisions.

The Group organisational structure reflects both its businesses and
the geographic distribution of its activities.

The segments presented correspond to five reporting units:

the “France” reporting unit, comprising the Consulting, Systemsp

Integration, IT Infrastructure Management and Cybersecurity
activities in this geographic area;

the “United Kingdom” reporting unit, comprising thep

Consulting, Systems Integration, IT Infrastructure Management,
Cybersecurity and Business Process Services activities in this
geographic area;

the “Other Europe” reporting unit, comprising the Consulting,p

Systems Integration, IT Infrastructure Management and
Cybersecurity activities in European countries other than France
and those in the United Kingdom (Germany, Norway, Sweden,
Denmark, Spain, Italy, Belgium, Luxembourg and Switzerland),
including the Sopra Financial Technology GmbH banking
services platform in Germany;

the “Sopra Banking Software” reporting unit, comprising thep

Core Banking and Specialised Lending Solutions businesses;

the “Other Solutions” reporting unit, comprising the Humanp

Resources and Real Estate Management Solutions businesses.

Revenue by geographic area3.2.

(in millions of euros) France Outside France Total

Financial year 2019 2,186.7 2,247.3 4,434.0
Financial year 2020 2,033.7 2,229.2 4,262.9

The above breakdown is based on geographic area and does not represent the reporting units presented in Note 3.1.

Non-current assets by geographic area3.3.

(in millions of euros) France
United

Kingdom

Other
European
countries

Other
countries Total

Goodwill 827.7 674.3 339.2 2.0 1,843.2
Intangible assets 92.0 78.5 62.2 0.1 232.9
Property, plant and equipment 61.1 16.8 42.1 12.5 132.5

The above breakdown is based on geographic area and does not represent the reporting units presented in Note 3.1.

OPERATING PROFITNOTE 4

Breakdown of revenue by reporting unit4.1.

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

France 1,655.6 38.8% 1,813.1 40.9%
United Kingdom 699.8 16.4% 771.5 17.4%
Other Europe 1,249.0 29.3% 1,152.9 26.0%
Sopra Banking Software 421.6 9.9% 438.9 9.9%
Other Solutions 236.9 5.6% 257.5 5.8%

TOTAL REVENUE 4,262.9 100.0% 4,434.0 100.0%
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Revenue mainly comprises revenue from services recognised on a
percentage-of-completion basis, around 98.5% of which consists of
Implementation, consulting and assistance services provided on a
time-and-materials basis; outsourcing; infrastructure management;
third-party application maintenance; and development.

The transaction price allocated to performance obligations not yet
satisfied at 31 December 2020 is determined by applying the
exemptions provided by the standard, which enable the following
performance obligations to be excluded in determining this value:

those performed on the basis of the actual use of billable services:p

implementation, consulting and assistance services provided on a
time-and-materials basis; outsourcing; infrastructure
management; and third-party application maintenance (corrective
maintenance);

those included in a contract for which the initial expected termp

does not exceed one year: the Group only applies this exemption
to software maintenance royalty-type services, for which the fixed
term of the majority of contracts does not exceed one year.

On this basis, within the limits set by the standard, revenue not yet
recognised that is allocated to performance obligations not yet
fulfilled is only attributable to services under fixed-price contracts
and, to a lesser extent, sales of licences for which control has not
yet been transferred to customers. It amounted at least
�816.1 million at 31 December 2020. Most of it will be recognised
in revenue in the following financial year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition should reflect the transfer of control of goods
or services promised to the customer for the amount of the
consideration the Group expects in return.

General principlesa.

Identifying the contract with the customeri.

Revenue recognition for a contract or a group of contracts must
meet five criteria: the contract must have commercial substance
(generation of future cash flows for the Group), the parties must
have approved the contract and have pledged to meet their
respective obligations, the rights and obligations of each party are
identified, the payment conditions are identifiable, and the
customer has the ability and intention to pay that amount of
consideration in exchange for the goods and services provided.

Identifying the performance obligations in the contractii.

The contract or group of contracts may include one or more
performance obligations: single-service or multi-component
arrangements. A performance obligation is distinct if it meets two
conditions. First, the underlying good or service must be distinct in
absolute terms: the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or through readily available market resources.
The good or service must also be distinct with respect to the
contract, necessitating an analysis of the transformation
relationship between the various goods and services comprising
the contract. This relationship does not exist if the good or service
is not used to produce other goods or services covered in the
contract; it does not significantly modify or customise another
good or service promised in the contract; or it is not highly
dependent on, or highly interrelated with, other goods or services
promised in the contract.

Determining the transaction priceiii.

Once the contract’s existence is validated and the various
performance obligations identified, the contract’s transaction price
must be determined and allocated to the various completed
performance obligations.

completion of project milestones. It can also include a financial
component or a consideration payable to the client.

The contract’s transaction price may include variable
consideration, generally in the form of discounts, reductions, or
penalties or, conversely, bonuses, and may be subject to the

At the contract’s inception, variable consideration is only taken
into account in the amount for which the Group deems it highly
probable that there will not be a material decrease in revenue in
subsequent periods, and provided it is not subject to factors
outside the Company’s influence. This variable consideration is
allocated to the performance obligations pro rata to their
respective standalone selling price if it cannot be otherwise
allocated.

A financial component included in the transaction price is
identified if it is material and if the period between completion
and payment exceeds twelve months or if the timing to fulfil the
services diverges substantially from that of the payments. This
material financial component results in an adjustment to revenue
and is recorded as financial income in Other financial income,
where the Group finances the customer or as a financial expense
in Other financial expenses, where the customer finances the
Group through the payment of advances.

A consideration payable to the customer is deducted from the
contract’s transaction price if it does not correspond to a separate
service provided by the customer. Otherwise, it is recognised as an
operating expense.

Allocating the transaction price to the variousiv.
performance obligations identified

The transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation
identified in the contract pro rata to the standalone selling prices
of each underlying good or service. The standalone selling price is
the price of the performance obligation as if it were sold
separately. It is generally based on list prices, similar past
transaction prices and observable market prices. With certain
multi-component arrangements, essentially relating to software
solutions, the Group may need to estimate the licence’s
standalone selling price using a residual approach; this
corresponds to the contract’s transaction price less the standalone
selling prices of the other performance obligations.

The amount allocated to each performance obligation identified in
the contract is recognised in revenue when control of the
underlying goods or services promised in the contract is
transferred to the customer.
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Recognising revenuev.

The control of a good or service is transferred to the customer over
time (requiring revenue recognition on a
percentage-of-completion basis) solely if one of the following
three criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes thep

benefits of performance as it occurs;

the performance creates or enhances an asset that the customerp

controls as the asset is created or developed;

if neither of the first two criteria apply, the revenue generatedp

by performance under a fixed-price contract can only be
recognised on a percentage-of-completion basis if the asset
created has no alternative use for the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for the performance completed
to date.

Services not yet rendered or partially invoiced are presented on the
balance sheet in Customer contract assets under Trade receivables
and related accounts. Services invoiced but not totally fulfilled are
presented on the balance sheet in Customer contract liabilities
under Other current liabilities. Customer contract assets and
liabilities are presented on a net basis for each individual contract.

If a fixed-price contract becomes loss-making, the loss on
completion is automatically provided for in Provisions for
contingencies and losses.

Practical application: Revenue recognition for servicesb.
performed by the Group on behalf of customers

Costs of obtaining a contracti.

The costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised in assets if two
conditions are met: they would not have been incurred had the
contract not been obtained, and they are recoverable. They can
include sales commissions if these are specifically and solely linked
to obtaining a contract and were not therefore granted in a
discretionary manner.

Costs of fulfilling a contract: Transition/transformationii.
phases of third-party application maintenance,
infrastructure management and outsourcing contracts,
preparatory phase for licences in SaaS mode

The costs of fulfilling or implementing a contract are costs directly
related to the contract, which are necessary to satisfying
performance obligations in the future and are expected to be
recovered. They do not meet the criteria defined in the general
principles to constitute a distinct performance obligation.

Certain third-party application maintenance, infrastructure
management or outsourcing contracts may include transition and
transformation phases. In basic contracts, these activities are
combined for the purpose of preparing the operating phase. They
are not distinct from subsequent services to be rendered. In this
case, they represent costs to implement the contract. They are
capitalised and recognised in Inventories and work in progress
(Other current assets).

Conversely, in more complex or sizeable contracts, the
transformation phase is often longer and more significant. This
generally occurs prior to operations or parallel to temporary
operations to define a target operating model. In these situations,
this service often represents a distinct performance obligation.

Licences in SaaS mode require preparatory phases (functional
integration, set-up of the technical environment) in order to reach
a target operating phase. These are not distinct performance
obligations but represent costs to implement the contract that are
capitalised and recognised in Inventories and work in progress
(Other current assets).

The costs of fulfilling or implementing a contract capitalised in
Inventories and work in progress (Other current assets) are
released to profit or loss in a pattern consistent with revenue
recognition and never give rise to the recognition of revenue.

Production, consulting and assistance servicesiii.
provided on a time-and-materials basis; outsourcing;
infrastructure management; and third-party
application maintenance (corrective maintenance)

Revenue from implementation, consulting and assistance services
provided on a time-and-materials basis; outsourcing; infrastructure
management; and third-party application maintenance (corrective
maintenance) is recognised, in accordance with the general
principles, when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits of the service. Revenue is recognised based
on time spent or another billable unit of work.
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Services covered by fixed-price contractsiv.

Revenue from services performed under fixed-price contracts is
recognised over time (rather than at a specific date), in accordance
with general revenue recognition principles, using the
percentage-of-completion method in the following two situations:

the services are performed in the customer’s environment or
enhance a customer’s asset. The customer obtains control as the
asset is created or developed;

the contract provides for the development of highly specific assets
in the Group’s environment (e.g. solutions) prior to
implementation in the customer’s infrastructure. The contract also
provides for settlement of the value of such services in the event of
termination for convenience (where the customer is entitled to do
so). The Group has no alternative use for the asset created and has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.

Revenue and profit generated over time by services performed
under fixed-price contracts are recognised based on a technical
estimate of the degree of completion, measured as the difference
between the contract value and the amount required to cover the
total number of person-days remaining to be performed.

Licencesv.

Should the analysis of a contract in accordance with the general
principles identify the delivery of a licence as a distinct
performance obligation, control is transferred to the customer
either at a point in time (grant of a right to use), or over time
(grant of a right to access).

A right to access corresponds to the development of solutions in
SaaS mode. Changes at any time made by the developer to the
solution that expose the customer to any positive or negative
effects do not represent a service for the customer. In this
situation, revenue is recognised as and when the customer
receives and consumes the benefits provided by performance.

If the nature of the licence granted to the customer does not
correspond to the definition of a right to access, it is a right to
use. In this situation, revenue from the licence shall be recognised
on delivery when all the obligations stipulated in the contract have
been met.

A licence sale in the form of a subscription may be considered the
sale of either a right to access an asset or a right to use an asset,
depending on the rights and obligations set out in the lease
signed with the customer.

Principal/Agent distinctionvi.

Should the analysis of a contract in accordance with the general
principles identify the resale of goods or services as a distinct
performance obligation, it is necessary to determine whether the
Group is acting as an agent or a principal. It is acting as an agent
if it is not responsible to the customer for satisfying the
performance obligation and for the customer’s acceptance, if
there is no transformation of the goods or services and there is no
inventory risk. In this situation, revenue is recognised for a net
amount corresponding to the agent’s margin or a commission.
Otherwise, where it obtains control of the good or service prior to
its transfer to the end-customer, it is acting as a principal. Revenue
is recognised for the gross amount and external purchases are
recorded in full as an operating expense.

Other operating income and expenses included in Operating profit4.2.
Aside from the staff costs detailed in Note 5, Operating profit mainly includes the following items:

External expenses and purchases included in Operating profit on business activity4.2.1.

(in millions of euros) Financial year 2020 Financial year 2019

Project subcontracting purchases -630.3 59.3% -710.9 57.6%
Purchases held in inventory of equipment and supplies -17.1 1.6% -23.0 1.9%
Goods purchases and changes in inventory -79.0 7.4% -61.3 5.0%
Leases -40.5 3.8% -36.3 2.9%
Maintenance and repairs -77.6 7.3% -73.7 6.0%
Subcontracting -12.9 1.2% -20.4 1.7%
Remuneration of intermediaries and fees -73.5 6.9% -84.1 6.8%
Advertising and public relations -13.1 1.2% -20.5 1.7%
Travel and entertainment -55.6 5.2% -144.9 11.7%
Telecommunications -26.0 2.4% -24.0 1.9%
Other expenses -36.5 3.4% -35.3 2.9%

TOTAL -1,062.0 100% -1,234.5 100%

Lease expenses only included costs excluded or exempt from the application of IFRS 16 Leases (see Note 9.1).

Other current operating income and expenses included in Operating profit on business activity4.2.2.

Other current operating income and expenses amounting to income of �4.8 million (income of �13.7 million in 2019) mainly comprised net
foreign exchange gains of �3.3 million (�10.5 million in 2019), which covered the foreign exchange impact of other components of
Operating profit on business activity.
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Other operating income and expenses included in Operating profit4.2.3.

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Expenses arising from business combinations (fees, commissions, etc.) -3.1 -3.3
Net restructuring and reorganisation costs -44.6 -31.6

Integration and reorganisation of activitiesp -6.6 -1.3
Separation costsp -38.0 -30.3

Asset impairment -3.6 -
Other operating expenses -7.5 -1.3

Total other operating expenses -58.9 -36.2
Other operating income - 5.2

Total other operating income - 5.2

TOTAL -58.9 -31.0

Other operating income and expenses for 2020 consisted of: (i) the
expenses and income usually recognised within this line item and
comparable to those recorded in 2019; and (ii) costs resulting from
the consequences of Covid-19 for �15.6 million.

The amount of item (i) comprised the restructuring costs of
business reorganisations carried out mainly in the United Kingdom,
France and Germany for �37.1 million (�8.2 million, �15.1 million
and �8.1 million respectively) of which �33.8 million related to
resource adjustments and �3.3 million to reorganisation costs of
premises and activities. It also included  �5.3 million impact of the
21 October cyberattack, and the positive �4.7 million impact of a
reversal of a provision for tax risks other than income tax. In 2019,
for comparison, the Group reorganised its activities, mainly in
France (�7.4 million), in Consulting and Systems Integration, at
Sopra Banking Software (�5.2 million), in Spain (�4.1 million) and
in Germany (�4.6 million). This essentially comprised expenses
related to resource adjustments.

It is supplemented by certain costs generated by the coronavirus
crisis. The Group decided to implement certain restructuring
measures for �4.3 million in 2020, mainly in India, Sweden and
Spain. In addition, it also decided to restructure certain activities on
which the crisis has had a significant, lasting impact, such as the
aeronautics sector, and for certain concerned staff it implemented
upskilling plans to eventually reassign them to positions outside the
scope of their initial training and less impacted by the crisis. The
costs of these measures came to �3.3 million in 2020, mainly in
France.

The additional logistics and social costs described in Note 1.3 as a
result of the crisis came to �3.2 million and �2.4 million,
respectively. These are included in Other operating expenses.

Finally, asset impairment charges represented �3.6 million,
including �2.5 million due to the crisis (see Note 1.3), related to
the operating licence for the Visa project in the United Kingdom.
These impairment charges were recognised within Other operating
expenses.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND SHARE-BASED PAYMENTSNOTE 5

Staff costs5.1.

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Wages and salaries -2,027.1 -1,999.5
Social security contributions -636.6 -631.7
Net expense for post-employment and similar benefit obligations -14.0 -37.3

TOTAL -2,677.7 -2,668.5

Furlough measures were implemented as a result of the Covid-19
crisis in various countries where the Group has operations. The
amounts received from various governments were recognised as a
deduction to personnel expenses and amounted to �10.8 million.

The Group’s management decided to supplement the indemnities
paid by certain governments under staff furlough measures in order
to maintain the salaries of the affected personnel. The cost of this
decision amounted to �4.6 million.

The Group recognises the amount of short-term employee benefits, as well as the contributions due in respect of its pension plans, under
Staff costs. As the Group has no commitments beyond these contributions, no provisions are recognised for these plans.

The principles applicable to post-employment benefit expenses and similar items are presented in Note 5.3.2 for other long-term
employee benefits and Note 5.3.1 for post-employment benefits.
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Workforce5.2.

Workforce at period-end
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

France 19,759 19,502
International 26,201 26,743

TOTAL 45,960 46,245

Average workforce
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

France 19,549 19,513
International 26,667 26,542

TOTAL 46,216 46,055

Retirement benefits and similar obligations5.3.
Retirement benefits and similar obligations break down as follows :

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Post-employment benefit assets -3.1 -2.0
Post-employment benefit liabilities 383.2 341.8

Net post-employment benefits 380.1 339.7
Other long-term employee benefits 10.2 10.2

TOTAL 390.4 350.0

Post-employment benefits5.3.1.

Post-employment benefits mainly concern the Group’s obligations
towards its employees to provide retirement bonuses in France
(42.6% of the Group’s total obligations) and defined-benefit
pension plans in the United Kingdom (38.8% of the Group’s total
obligations) and Germany (17.2%). For marginal amounts, they also
include end-of-contract bonuses in certain countries in Africa, as
well as a defined-benefit plan in Belgium. At 31 December 2020
they totalled �380.1 million, versus �339.7 million at
31 December 2019.

with legal, investment policy and actuarial matters. Under UK law,
the plans must be assessed every three years. This assessment is
used as a basis to determine the contributions payable by the
employer to the funds. It was completed in 2020 The creation of a
new plan on 1 February 2020 through the merger of three existing
plans will simplify the administration of these post-employment
benefit plans. Accordingly, a further assessment will be required
within 12 months, which was scheduled for 31 December 2020.
This will establish an agreement on the level of contributions to be
paid. It will then have to be approved by the trustees by 31 March
2022.

In the United Kingdom, the Group has five post-employment
defined-benefit plans. During financial year 2020, members of three
existing plans were transferred and pooled together in a new sixth
plan. The remaining members will be transferred during financial
year 2021. The obligations under each plan are asset-funded.
Three of these plans are closed to all new employees and the
vesting of future benefits has ceased. For each plan, the benefits
payable are primarily based on the plan member’s final salary or, in
certain cases, an average of the member’s salary and any additional
benefits. Each plan holds its assets in a trust fund for employees and
is supervised by the regulating body defined in UK pension law. The
plan trustees are corporate trustees whose directors include
representatives of the plan members, representatives of the
Company and independent members. External consultants are hired
by the trustees to manage the plans on a day-to-day basis and deal

The risks associated with these plans relate to:

asset management;p

inflation, to which pension benefits are indexed, although thisp

risk is limited by the use of inflation-indexed financial
instruments;

interest rates insofar as the future cash outflows are discounted,p

although this risk is limited by the use of interest rate hedging
instruments;

changes in demographic assumptions such as mortality.p

These plans distinguish between active members who are still
vesting benefits, members who are still working but whose benefits
are frozen, and retired members. These three member categories
represent 4.1%, 54.9% and 41.0%, respectively, of total obligations.
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Projected benefit outflows by the funds, which had a total of
�1,851.3 million in assets at 31 December 2020, are as follows, in
millions of pounds sterling, over the next ten years:

less than two years: £134.1 million;p

two to five years: £215.0 million;p

five to ten years: £398.5 million.p

These outflows correspond to benefits provided and estimates for
transfers of obligations (and the related assets), at the request of
recipients, to external asset managers.

Assets covering these obligations came to �1,703.9 million at
31 December 2020.

These plans include the payment of contributions to fund the deficit
existing in the funds (contributions less mandatory expenses and
deductions) and to fund the current service cost for the financial
year. In 2020, over 12 months, contributions paid totalled
�29.5 million, including �22.3 million to fund the deficit
(�25.3 million including other related disbursements). The
contribution to be paid in 2021 is expected to amount to
£25.6 million, including £20.4 million to fund the deficit.

terms of voluntary and compulsory retirement under the Syntec
collective bargaining agreement.

In France, the defined-benefit plan concerns the payment of
retirement bonuses. The Group recognises provisions for its
employee benefit obligations, principally in accordance with the

The resulting liability fluctuates according to demographic
assumptions such as mortality rates (public statistics) and the
discount rate (Bloomberg eurozone index).

This plan is exposed to interest rate risk, inflation risk and the risk of
changes in demographic assumptions.

In Germany, there are six plans, two of which are material
(�55.9 million). Since these plans are not funded, they are covered
by a provision. The purpose of the main plan is to pay a minimum
pension equal to 14.1% of the salary paid up to the social security
ceiling and 35.2% beyond that ceiling. This plan only involves
employees who entered into service prior to 1 January 1986, and
pension entitlements have been frozen since 30 September 1996.
This plan is exposed to interest rate risk, inflation risk and the risk of
changes in demographic assumptions.

There are also plans in Poland, Cameroon, Côte d’Ivoire, Tunisia and
Belgium. The plan in Belgium is funded and serves to pay an annuity
to plan members on retirement. The other plans cover
end-of-contract bonuses payable. These plans are grouped together
under “Other”, with the plan in Belgium being the main contributor
to this item.
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Change in net liabilities arising from the main post-employment benefit plans in financial year 2020a.

(in millions of euros)

Defined-benefit
pension
funds –
United

Kingdom

Retirement
bonuses –

France

Defined-benefit
pension
funds –

Germany Other Total

Calculation assumptions for actuarial liabilities

Discount rate 1.41%
0.11% to

0.44%
0.13% to

0.34%
0.13% to

10.30%
Inflation rate 2.09% NA N/A N/A

Rate of salary increase 2.89%
2.00% to

2.50%
2.00% to

2.50%
3.00% to

10.00%
Retirement age 65 65 60 to 65 Varies
Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
Present value of the obligation at 31/12/2020 1,851.3 164.9 68.2 13.5 2,097.9
Fair value of plan assets at 31/12/2020 1,703.9 1.8 2.9 9.2 1,717.8

Net liabilities on the balance sheet at 
31/12/2020 147.5 163.1 65.3 4.3 380.1
Net liability cost components
Current service cost 4.2 10.1 0.5 0.3 15.0
Past service cost - - - - -
Losses/(gains) on plan settlements - - - - -
Interest on obligation 34.6 1.3 0.5 0.1 36.5
Interest on plan assets -32.2 -0.0 -0.0 -0.0 -32.3

Total expenses recognised in the income 
statement 6.6 11.3 0.9 0.3 19.2
Effect of net liability remeasurements 42.1 11.3 4.3 0.5 58.3

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included p

in interest income) -168.3 0.0 - -0.2 -168.5
Experience adjustmentsp -5.1 0.4 -0.9 0.5 -5.0
Impact of changes in demographic assumptionsp -2.9 0.5 - -0.1 -2.6
Impact of changes in financial assumptionsp 218.5 10.4 5.2 0.4 234.5

Total expenses recognised directly in equity 42.1 11.3 4.3 0.5 58.3
Changes in net liabilities
Net liability at 1 January 2020 135.7 138.0 62.1 3.9 339.7
Changes in scope - 5.8 - - 5.8
Net expense recognised in the income statement 6.6 11.3 0.9 0.3 19.2
Net expense recognised in equity 42.1 11.3 4.3 0.5 58.3
Contributions -29.5 -3.4 -2.0 -0.5 -35.5

Employer contributionsp -29.5 -3.4 -2.0 -0.5 -35.5
Employee contributionsp - - - - -

Exchange differences -7.5 - - -0.0 -7.5
Other movements - - - -0.0 -0.0

NET LIABILITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 147.5 163.1 65.3 4.3 380.1
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Changes in scope essentially reflected the acquisition of Sodifrance in France.

For reference, net liabilities arising from the main post-employment benefit plans changed as follows in financial year 2019:

(in millions of euros)

Defined-benefit
pension
funds –
United

Kingdom

Retirement
bonuses –

France

Defined-benefit
pension
funds –

Germany Other Total

Calculation assumptions for actuarial liabilities

Discount rate 2.07%
0.08% to

1.09%
0.08% to

0.87%
0.40% to

6.35%
Inflation rate 2.02% 0.20% N/A N/A

Rate of salary increase 2.92%
2.00% to

2.50% 2% to 2.50% 3% to 7%
Retirement age 65 65 60 to 65 Varies
Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
Present value of the obligation at 31/12/2019 1,779.2 139.9 64.6 14.2 1,997.9
Fair value of plan assets at 31/12/2019 1,643.5 1.9 2.5 10.3 1,658.2

Net liabilities on the balance sheet at 
31/12/2019 135.7 138.0 62.1 3.9 339.7
Net liability cost components
Current service cost 4.0 8.9 0.2 0.9 14.0
Past service cost - 0.0 1.5 - 1.5
Losses/(gains) on plan settlements - - - - -
Interest on obligation 44.2 2.2 0.7 0.1 47.3
Interest on plan assets -40.3 -0.0 - -0.1 -40.4

Total expenses recognised in the income 
statement 7.9 11.1 2.5 0.9 22.4
Effect of net liability remeasurements 1.6 8.7 4.0 0.2 14.5

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included p

in interest income) -143.6 -0.0 - -0.3 -143.9
Experience adjustmentsp -14.2 -2.0 -0.5 0.0 -16.7
Impact of changes in demographic assumptionsp -22.5 -5.2 - 0.1 -27.6
Impact of changes in financial assumptionsp 181.9 15.9 4.5 0.5 202.7

Total expenses recognised directly in equity 1.6 8.7 4.0 0.2 14.5
Changes in net liabilities

Net liability at 1 January 2019 147.5 115.3 41.3 4.2 308.3
Changes in scope - 5.0 15.9 - 20.9
Net expense recognised in the income statement 7.9 11.1 2.5 0.9 22.4
Net expense recognised in equity 1.6 8.7 4.0 0.2 14.5
Contributions -28.3 -2.0 -1.6 -0.7 -32.7

Employer contributionsp -28.3 -2.0 -1.6 -0.7 -32.7
Employee contributionsp - - - - -

Exchange differences 7.0 - - 0.0 7.0
Other movements - 0.0 - -0.7 -0.7

NET LIABILITY AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 135.7 138.0 62.1 3.9 339.7
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Change in pension assets and liabilities in the United Kingdomb.

In the United Kingdom, net liabilities arising from post-employment defined-benefit plans reflect the net value of benefit obligations and the
plan assets covering them. These assets and liabilities changed as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Present value of the obligation at the beginning of the period 1,779.2 1,544.1
Changes in scope - -
Translation adjustments -97.2 84.2
Current service cost 4.2 4.0
Past service cost - -
Interest 34.6 44.2
Employee contributions - -
Effect of obligation remeasurements 203.0 145.0

Experience adjustmentsp -5.1 -14.2
Impact of changes in demographic assumptionsp -2.9 -22.5
Impact of changes in financial assumptionsp 211.0 181.7

Plan amendments - -
Transfers - -
Benefits provided -72.4 -42.3

PRESENT VALUE OF THE OBLIGATION AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1,851.3 1,779.2

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the period 1,643.5 1,396.6
Changes in scope - -
Translation adjustments -89.7 77.2
Interest 32.2 40.3
Effects of plan asset remeasurements 160.9 143.4

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income)p 168.3 143.6
Impact of changes in financial assumptionsp -7.4 -0.2

Employer contributions 29.5 28.3
Employee contributions - -
Transfers - -
Benefits provided -72.4 -42.3

FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1,703.9 1,643.5

The decrease in net liabilities mainly resulted from the contributions paid to reduce the deficit and the favourable evolution in the return on
assets partly compensated by a reduction in the discount rate.

UK pension fund assets fall into four investment categories:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Shares 319.8 360.0
Bonds/Private placements 1,043.8 336.3
Infrastructure and property assets 241.4 249.8
Other assets 98.9 697.4

TOTAL 1,703.9 1,643.5

Other assets mainly comprised cash and cash equivalents at
31 December 2020.

The discount rate used for employee obligations is based on the
return on AA bonds in line with the duration of the liabilities
rounded to the nearest hundredth. In the United Kingdom, the
benchmark used is the Mercer yield curve.

discount rate would reduce the benefit obligation by
�102.3 million. A 10% reduction in the value of the assets would
reduce their amount by �170.4 million, whereas a 10% increase
would increase their amount by �170.4 million. These sensitivity
estimates are made on the basis of all other things being equal.

A 0.25-point decrease in the discount rate would increase the
benefit obligation by �90.5 million. A 0.25-point increase in the

At 31 December 2020, two plans were in a net asset position,
totalling �3.1 million. These assets are deemed recoverable through
a future decrease in contributions.
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Change in pension assets and liabilities in Francec.

(in millions of euros)

Retirement
bonuses –

France
31/12/2020

Retirement
bonuses –

France
31/12/2019

Present value of the obligation at the beginning of the period 139.9 117.4
Changes in scope 5.8 5.0
Current service cost 10.1 8.9
Past service cost - 0.0
Interest 1.3 2.2
Employee contributions - -
Effect of obligation remeasurements 11.3 8.7

Experience adjustmentsp 0.4 -2.0
Impact of changes in demographic assumptionsp 0.5 -5.2
Impact of changes in financial assumptionsp 10.4 15.9

Plan amendments - -
Transfers - -
Benefits provided -3.5 -2.2

PRESENT VALUE OF THE OBLIGATION AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 164.9 139.9

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the period 1.9 2.1
Changes in scope - -
Translation adjustments - -
Interest 0.0 0.0
Effects of plan asset remeasurements -0.0 0.0

Return on plan assets (excluding amounts included in interest income)p -0.0 0.0
Impact of changes in financial assumptionsp - -

Employer contributions - -
Employee contributions - -
Transfers - -
Benefits provided -0.1 -0.2

FAIR VALUE OF PLAN ASSETS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 1.8 1.9

For pension liabilities in France, a 0.50-point increase or decrease in the discount rate would decrease the benefit obligation by �10.5 million
or increase it by �11.4 million, respectively.

The retirement bonus obligation in France breaks down as follows by maturity:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Present value of theoretical benefits payable by the employer in:
Less than 1 year 4.3 2.5
1 to 5 years 18.2 16.2
5 to 10 years 41.6 36.2
10 to 20 years 69.2 59.8
More than 20 years 31.6 25.2

TOTAL OBLIGATION 164.9 139.9
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Defined-benefit plans are paid for either directly by the Group,
which funds the benefits to be granted, or via pension funds to
which the Group contributes. In both cases, the Group recognises
a pension liability corresponding to the present value of future
payments, which is estimated by taking into consideration relevant
internal and external factors as well as the laws and regulations
specific to each Group entity.

Certain post-employment defined-benefit plans may comprise plan
assets intended to settle the obligations. They are mainly
administered by pension funds that are legally separate from the
entities making up the Group. The assets held by these funds are
mainly shares or bonds. Their fair value is generally calculated
using their market value.

Obligations in respect of post-employment defined-benefit plans
are measured annually using the actuarial valuation method
known as the projected unit credit method, which stipulates that
each period of service gives rise to an additional unit of benefit
entitlement, and measures each unit separately to obtain the final
obligation. These calculations include assumptions regarding life
expectancy, employee turnover and projected future salaries.

The present value of retirement benefit obligations is determined
by discounting future cash outflows using the rate for market
yields on high-quality corporate bonds of the currency used to pay
the benefit and a term consistent with the estimated average term
of the concerned retirement benefit obligation.

The expense representing the current service cost for the period is
recognised in profit or loss within Staff costs.

The effects of plan amendments, recognised through past service
cost (cost of service in prior periods modified by the introduction
of changes or new benefit plans), are recognised immediately in
profit or loss within Staff costs when they occur.

Any gains or losses recognised in the event of defined-benefit
pension plan curtailments or settlements are recognised in profit
or loss when the event occurs within Other operating income or
Other operating expenses, respectively.

An interest expense is recognised in profit or loss within Other
financial expenses and corresponds to the cost of unwinding the
discount of the retirement benefit obligations net of plan assets.

The assumptions used in the actuarial calculation of
defined-benefit pension obligations involve uncertainties that may
affect the value of financial assets and obligations to employees.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from the effects of changes in
demographic assumptions, changes in financial assumptions and
the difference between the discount rate and the actual rate of
return on plan assets, less their management and administrative
costs, are recognised directly in equity under Other comprehensive
income, and are not reclassifiable to profit or loss.

Other long-term employee benefits5.3.2.

Other long-term employee benefits may include the portion in Germany and Belgium; and end-of-contract bonuses in Italy,
available in more than one year of employee profit-sharing liabilities Lebanon and India. Benefits for employees in India make up the
allocated to a current account and locked in for five years in France; largest portion of these liabilities for 2020, for �4.3 million
long-service awards in Germany and India; pre-pension obligations (�4.4 million at 31/12/2019).

The remaining long-term employee benefits primarily consist of:

long-term paid leave such as long-service or sabbatical leave;

long-service awards;p

incentives and bonuses payable 12 months or more after thep

end of the period in which the employees render the
corresponding service;

nominal value that will be paid to employees at the close of the
lock-up period is recognised as a financial liability and balanced
by an additional staff expense. It is then reversed as a deduction
against financial expenses over the following five years;

profit-sharing liabilities. These are recognised at the presentp

value of the obligation at the balance sheet date. For the year in
which this profit-sharing is appropriated, the difference
between the present value of the profit-sharing and the

deferred compensation paid 12 months or more after the endp

of the period in which it is earned.

All expenses relating to other long-term benefits, includingp

changes in actuarial assumptions, are recognised immediately in
profit or loss within Staff costs in respect of the service cost and
within Other financial income and expenses in respect of the
cost of unwinding the discount.
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Share-based payments5.4.
The cost of the benefits granted to employees under stock option,
free share and employee share ownership plans, which amounted
to �4.2 million (�11.1 million in 2019), is charged to Profit from
recurring operations.

it also included social security contributions relating to these plans
for �2.1 million and management costs for the remainder, which
were virtually nil in 2020.

It mainly consisted of a charge corresponding to benefits granted to
employees in respect of free performance share plans (�9.1 million
in 2019, mainly in respect of free performance share plans. In 2019,

Free performance share plans5.4.1.

Expenses related to free share plans totalled �2.2 million
(compared with �7.6 million in financial year 2019).

Information on the rules of the main free share plans is set out below:

 

Sopra Steria plans

February 2017 plan February 2018 plan

Date set up by General Management and/or 
the Board of Directors 24 February 2017* 16 February 2018
Number of shares that may be granted 109,000 (*) 128,000
Exchange ratio between Sopra Steria and 
Steria shares: # of Steria shares for 
1 Sopra Steria share Not applicable Not applicable
Performance measurement period 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020

Vesting period
24 February 2017 to 31 March 2020

inclusive*
16 February 2018 to 31 March 2021

inclusive
Mandatory holding period following the 
grant of shares None None

Performance conditions stipulated in the plan
1) Consolidated revenue growth in 2017,

2018 and 2019
1) Consolidated revenue growth in 2018,

2019 and 2020

 
2) Level of consolidated operating profit

on business activity in 2017, 2018 and 2019
2) Level of consolidated operating profit

on business activity in 2018, 2019 and 2020

 
3) Level of consolidated free cash flow

in 2017, 2018 and 2019
3) Level of consolidated free cash flow

in 2018, 2019 and 2020

Number of potential shares that could 
have been granted as at 1 January 
2020 63,936 78,572
Number of shares granted in 2020 59,732 0
Number of shares cancelled in 2020 4,204 10,892
Number of shares vested at 31 December 
2020 59,732 0

Number of potential shares that could 
have been granted as at 31 December 
2020 0 67,680
Share price 112.85 (*) 153.80
Risk-free rate - -
Dividends 2.5% 2.2%
Volatility N/A N/A

(EXPENSE)/INCOME RECOGNISED IN 
THE INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE 
FINANCIAL YEAR IN MILLIONS OF 
EUROS 0.1 2.2

Including 5,000 shares granted following the Board of Directors’ decision at its meeting on 25 October 2017. The share price at that date was �157.(*)
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No new free performance share plans were set up in 2020. company officer shareholding programmes (share subscription and
share purchase options, BSAAR redeemable equity warrants, freeAt the Combined General Meeting of 9 June 2020, an overall limit
shares, and share capital increases reserved for employees enrolledof 3% of the share capital (i.e. 616,431 shares on the basis of the
in the company savings plan).share capital at 31 December 2019) was set for all employee and

Awards of free Sopra Steria Group shares are granted to some
staff members, subject to their continued employment within the
Group at the grant date, and either subject or not subject to
conditions relating to the Group’s performance. Benefits granted
under free share award plans constitute additional compensation
and are measured and recognised in the financial statements.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
potential number of shares that could be awarded based on the
recipients present and estimates regarding the achievement of
non-market performance conditions provided for under the plans.
The impact of this re-estimate is recognised in profit or loss as an
offset against equity.

vesting conditions must not be taken into account when
estimating the fair value of the shares at the measurement date.
When these equity instruments are subject to conditions of
non-transferability, the cost of non-transferability is taken into
account in their fair value. Where appropriate, the inability to
collect dividends is also taken into account in the fair value
calculation. Lastly, the cumulative expense recognised also takes
into account the estimated number of shares that will eventually
vest.

The value of free shares in awards granted to employees as
compensation for services rendered is measured by reference to
the fair value of the equity instrument at the grant date. This fair
value is based on the share price at this same date. Non-market

The expense related to share-based payments made to employees
under free share plans is recognised on a straight-line basis in
profit or loss over the vesting period, under Expenses related to
stock options and related items, which enters into the calculation
of Profit from recurring operations. Since this is an equity-settled
plan, the double-entry for this expense is recognised in equity
under the Consolidated reserves and other reserves heading.

Employee share ownership plan5.4.2.

In 2020, the Group did not set up any employee share ownership plans.

Furthermore, the Share Incentive Plan – a special plan in place in the United Kingdom – continued and incurred an expense of �1.8 million.

Senior management compensation (related parties)5.5.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Short-term employee benefits 3.2 3.2
Post-employment benefits 0.0 0.0
Other long-term employee benefits - -
Termination benefits - -
Equity compensation benefits 0.2 0.5

TOTAL 3.5 3.7

The compensation information provided in the table above relates
to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive
Officer and all Directors holding a salaried position within the
Group.

Post-employment benefits correspond to retirement benefits
established in accordance with collective bargaining agreements
(see Note 5.3.1). There are no obligations toward senior executives
with respect to post-employment benefits or other long-term
employee benefits.
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CORPORATE INCOME TAXNOTE 6

Tax expense6.1.

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Current tax -57.9 -78.6
Deferred tax -2.5 -8.8

TOTAL -60.4 -87.3

Current taxa.

The Group determines its current tax expense by applying the tax
laws in force in countries where its subsidiaries and associates
conduct their business and generate taxable revenues. The tax
laws applied are those enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred taxb.

Deferred tax is recognised on all temporary differences between
the tax base and the carrying amount of assets and liabilities on
consolidation.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised if it is probable that they
will be recovered as a result of taxable profit expected in future
periods within a reasonable time frame.

They are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.

Tax assets and liabilities are measured based on the tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted applicable to the reporting
period during which the asset will be realised or the liability
settled. Their effect is recognised in profit or loss as Deferred tax
unless it relates to items recorded under Other comprehensive
income, in which case the effect is also included among gains and
losses recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities, regardless of their expiry date, are offset when:

the Group has the legal right to settle current tax amounts on ap

net basis; and

the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxp

entity.

Reconciliation of statutory and effective tax expense6.2.

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Net profit 118.9 173.1
Adjustment for:

Net profit from associatesp 2.3 1.8
Tax expensep -60.4 -87.3

Profit before tax 177.1 258.7

Statutory tax rate 32.02% 34.43%

Statutory tax expense -56.7 -89.1
Permanent differences -7.2 -9.3
Impact of non-activated losses for the financial year -5.1 -0.2
Use/activation of previously uncapitalised loss carryforwards 0.0 1.6
Impact of tax credits 10.0 9.9
Tax rate differences 10.1 14.1
Prior-year tax adjustments -1.1 3.2
CVAE (net of tax) -15.7 -16.4
Other tax 5.4 -1.1

ACTUAL TAX EXPENSE -60.4 -87.3

Effective tax rate 34.09% 33.77%

The reconciliation between the statutory tax expense and the Contribution Sociale de Solidarité des Sociétés (C3S) social security
effective tax expense is conducted using the statutory tax rate in tax.
France for the Group’s parent company. This statutory tax rate
consists of the 31.0% corporate tax rate plus the 1.02%

The Cotisation sur la Valeur Ajoutée des Entreprises (CVAE) – a tax
on corporate value added, which is a component of the
Contribution Économique Territoriale (CET) regional business tax in
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France – is recognised as part of the corporate income tax expense,
as is the Imposta Regionale Attività Produttive (IRAP) regional
production tax in Italy.

to Group companies can therefore vary from year to year depending
on the relative level of taxable profit. These movements are reflected
in Tax rate differences. This also takes into account the impact of
the reduced tax rate in France, which nevertheless represents anThe Group operates in many countries with differing tax laws and
immaterial amount.tax rates. Within each country, tax rates may also vary depending on

the tax policies implemented by local governments and can lead to
differences between the current and deferred tax rates, as is the
case mainly in France. Local weighted average tax rates applicable

In 2020, as in 2019, Other tax essentially consisted of unrecovered
withholdings.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities6.3.
Change in net deferred tax6.3.1.

(in millions of euros) 01/01/2020

Change
through
profit or

loss

Change
through

OCI
Scope
effect

Currency
translation

effect Other 31/12/2020

Deferred tax arising from:
Intangible assets -26.4 4.9 0.0 -0.1 0.6 - -21.1
Property, plant and equipment 4.1 -0.4 - - -0.2 - 3.6
Non-current financial assets 0.9 0.3 - - -0.0 - 1.1
Inventories, services in progress 
and outstanding invoices -0.4 -4.5 - 1.3 0.0 - -3.6
Other current assets -0.9 -3.0 -0.0 0.0 -0.2 - -4.1
Derivatives 0.3 -0.3 0.9 - -0.0 - 0.8

- With impact on the income statementp 0.7 -0.3 - - 0.0 - 0.4
- With impact on OCIp -0.4 - 0.9 - -0.0 - 0.5

Financial debt -0.6 0.2 - - 0.0 - -0.4
Retirement benefit obligations 73.1 -4.4 18.0 1.5 -1.5 - 86.7

- With impact on the income statementp 8.8 -4.4 0.0 1.5 1.4 - 7.3
- With impact on OCIp 64.3 - 18.0 - -2.9 - 79.4

Provisions 1.9 0.9 - -0.0 -0.1 - 2.7
Assets and liabilities related to lease assets 6.8 1.8 -4.6 0.1 -0.0 - 4.2
Other current liabilities -3.2 -1.2 - -0.4 -0.2 - -4.9
Tax loss carryforwards 42.7 3.2 -0.0 2.5 -0.0 - 48.3

Net deferred tax asset/(liability) 98.1 -2.4 14.4 4.9 -1.5 - 113.4
Deferred tax included in assets held for sale 0.0 -  -  - -  -0.0 -0.0

NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY) 
REPORTED IN THE BALANCE SHEET 98.1 -2.4 14.4 4.9 -1.5 -0.0 113.4

Of which:
Deferred tax recognised in profit or loss 34.3 -2.4 -4.6 4.9 1.3 -0.0 33.5
Deferred tax recognised in equity (OCI) 63.8 - 19.0 - -2.9 - 79.9

Reclassifiable to profit or lossp -0.4 - 0.9 - -0.0 - 0.5
Not reclassifiable to profit or loss p

(retirement benefit obligations) 64.3 - 18.0 - -2.9 - 79.4

Deferred tax assets not recognised by the Group6.3.2.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Tax losses carried forward 41.3 22.2
Temporary differences - -

TOTAL 41.3 22.2
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Change in tax loss carryforwards6.3.3.

(in millions of euros) France
United

Kingdom Scandinavia Spain
Other

countries Total

31 December 2019 207.4 5.2 12.9 7.6 22.1 255.2
Changes in scope 28.0 - - - - 28.0
Created 85.0 0.0 0.6 0.8 20.8 107.2
Used -83.8 - - - -1.6 -85.4
Expired - - - - - -
Translation adjustments - -0.3 1.0 - -2.2 -1.5
Other movements 34.3 - 22.6 -0.5 1.0 57.5

31 DECEMBER 2020 270.8 5.0 37.2 7.9 40.0 360.9

Deferred tax basis – Activated 170.1 -0.0 0.3 4.4 11.3 186.1
Deferred tax basis – 
Non-activated 100.8 5.0 36.9 3.5 28.8 174.9
Deferred tax – Activated 43.9 - 0.1 1.1 3.3 48.3
Deferred tax – Non-activated 26.0 0.0 8.0 0.9 6.4 41.3

In France, a portion of the non-activated tax losses – �13.0 million
in deferred taxes (based on a tax rate of 25.83%) – consisted of the
tax loss carryforwards prior to 1 January 2014 originating from
Steria. The authorities’ decision to disallow their transfer to
Sopra Steria is being challenged through litigation.

In Scandinavia, the tax loss carryforwards of the companies
established in Sweden and Denmark did not lead to the recognition
of any deferred tax assets.

Lastly, in “Other countries”, tax losses for small companies located
in Brazil, Spain, Austria and several African countries were not
activated.

COMPONENTS OF THE WORKING CAPITAL REQUIREMENT NOTE 7

AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

These items include non-current financial assets, trade receivables and related accounts, other current assets, other non-current liabilities,
trade payables and other current liabilities.

Other non-current financial assets7.1.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Non-consolidated securities 19.4 19.8
Other loans and receivables 54.2 36.4
Derivatives 0.3 2.2

TOTAL 74.0 58.3
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The Group classifies its financial assets into the following
categories:

assets at fair value through other comprehensive income;p

assets at fair value through profit or loss; andp

assets at amortised cost.p

Classification depends on the purposes for which financial assets
were acquired. According to its management model, the Group’s
management determines the appropriate classification at the time
of initial recognition and performs a reassessment at each interim
or annual reporting date.

The financial assets recognised by the Group consist of the items
described below:

Assets at fair value through other comprehensivea.
income

This category includes investments in equity instruments that the
Group has chosen to irrevocably place in this category.

Changes in the fair value of these assets are recognised directly in
equity and are not reclassifiable to profit or loss. These assets are
not impaired.

The Group has included in this category its investments in
unconsolidated entities over which it exercises no control or
significant influence.

Assets at amortised cost (loans and receivables)b.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
They comprise the financial assets arising when the Group
transfers funds, or provides goods and services, to an individual or
entity. Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

The Group distinguishes between:

long-term loans and receivables classified as non-currentp

financial assets;

short-term trade receivables and other equivalent receivables.p

Short-term trade receivables continue to be measured at the
nominal amount originally invoiced, which usually equates to
the fair value of the consideration to be received.

Assets at fair value through profit or lossc.

These are non-derivative financial assets which the Group has
chosen not to measure through other comprehensive income.

This category comprises financial assets held for trading (i.e.
acquired with a view to resale in the near term). They are mostly
marketable securities and other cash equivalents.

Changes in the fair value of assets of this category are recognised
in profit or loss within Other financial income and expenses.

Impairment of financial assetsd.

At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether or not
there exists objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets may be impaired.

The Group assesses the credit risk associated with loans and
receivables when they are issued. They may be subsequently
impaired if the Group expects that their estimated recoverable
amount is less than their net carrying amount.

For trade receivables, these write-downs are charged to profit or
loss as part of Operating profit on business activity and reversed in
the event of an improvement in the recoverable amount. For loans
and deposits, they are recorded within Other financial income and
expenses.

Non-consolidated securities7.1.1.

(in millions of euros) Gross value Impairment
Carrying
amount

31 december 2018 12.2 0.0 12.2
Changes in scope 0.0 - 0.0
Increases 5.1 0.1 5.0
Decreases -1.6 -0.0 -1.6
Revaluation -0.1 - -0.1
Translation adjustments and other movements 4.3 0.0 4.3

31 december 2019 19.9 0.2 19.8
Changes in scope 0.2 0.1 0.1
Increases 6.5 2.3 4.2
Decreases -4.0 -0.0 -4.0
Revaluation -0.6 -0.0 -0.6
Translation adjustments and other movements -0.0 0.0 -0.0

31 DECEMBER 2020 22.0 2.6 19.4

The most significant component of non-consolidated securities is the shares in CS Communication & Systèmes (�9.7 million at 31 December
2020, compared to �9.9 million at 31 December 2019).
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Other loans and receivables7.1.2.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Loans 0.1 0.3
R&D tax credit receivables 12.4 12.4
Other non-current receivables 24.0 10.6
Deposits and other non-current financial assets 21.0 15.3
Provisions for loans, deposits and other non-current financial assets -3.2 -2.2

TOTAL 54.2 36.4

R&D tax credit receivables classified as Other loans and receivables
are those which will be used or redeemed after more than
one year.

Deposits and other non-current financial assets mainly include
security deposits paid for leased premises and receivables relating to
equity investments.

Other non-current receivables include �4.9 million in advances paid
in the United Kingdom by the NHS SBS entity to new customers of
its platform to facilitate their migration, and �19.0 million for
services performed but not yet invoiced in Germany by Sopra
Financial Technology GmbH.

These deposits and other receivables are held at their nominal value,
given that the effect of discounting is not material.

Trade receivables and related accounts7.2.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Trade receivables – Gross value 629.8 758.8
Impairment of trade receivables -22.2 -21.1

Trade receivables – Net value 607.6 737.7
Customer contract assets 346.9 336.6

TOTAL 954.6 1,074.3

Net trade receivables, expressed in months of revenue, came to less An analysis of credit risk in light of the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial
than 2 months of revenue at 31 December 2020, a slight Instruments does not show any material impact.
improvement with respect to 31 December 2019. This ratio is
calculated by comparing Net trade receivables with revenue
obtained using the countback method. Net trade receivables is
obtained by eliminating VAT from the Trade receivables balance and
subtracting the deferred income balance appearing under liabilities.

Customer contract assets are described in Note 4.1. Changes
during the period resulted in part from the appearance of billable
amounts transforming assets into trade receivables, and in part
from the recognition of revenue leading to the appearance of new
customer contract assets.

Aged trade receivables at 31 December 20207.2.1.

(in millions of euros)

Carrying
amount

Of which: Not
past due at the

balance
sheet date

Of which: Past due, with the following breakdown

Less
than

30 days
Between 30

and 90 days
Between 90

and 120 days
More than
120 days

TRADE RECEIVABLES 629.8 467.5 79.9 32.5 8.3 41.6

Changes in provisions for trade receivables7.2.2.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Impairment of trade receivables at beginning of period 21.1 17.3
Changes in scope 0.6 4.7
Additions net of reversals 0.3 -1.0
Other movements 0.3 -0.1
Translation adjustments -0.1 0.1

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES AT END OF PERIOD 22.2 21.1
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Other current assets7.3.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Inventories and work in progress 43.8 30.4
Advances and payments on account 3.2 6.1
Staff and social security 5.6 4.4
Tax receivables (other than corporate income tax) 161.1 115.5
Corporate income tax 85.5 106.8
Loans, guarantees and other financial receivables maturing in less than one year 3.4 5.4
Other receivables 44.9 17.9
Impairment of other receivables -1.0 -0.9
Prepaid expenses 62.8 56.2
Derivatives 1.2 6.6

TOTAL 410.6 348.3

Inventories and work in progress essentially result from the costs of described in Note 4.1. Their increase results from the signature of
fulfilling contracts (transition phases of third-party application new contracts.
maintenance, infrastructure management and outsourcing
contracts; preparatory phases for licences in SaaS mode), as

Tax receivables include those relating to the CIR (R&D tax credit) in
France.

Other non-current liabilities7.4.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Put options granted 84.3 77.3
Other liabilities – Non-current portion 17.3 31.2
Derivatives 2.4 3.7

TOTAL 104.1 112.2

In the United Kingdom, the put option granted by the Group to the
Cabinet Office for the shares it holds in the SSCL joint venture,
which may be exercised between 1 January 2022 and 1 January
2024, represented a non-current liability of �84.3 million at
31 December 2020 (�69.6 million at 31 December 2019).

31 December 2019. In 2020, it was recognised as a current liability
(see Note 7.5).

The Group also entered into an irrevocable commitment to acquire
the shares held by minority shareholders in Tecfit – the holding
company of Galitt, which was acquired in the second half of 2017 –
by way of a put option granted to these shareholders. The
corresponding non-current liability was �7.7 million at

Finally, other non-current liabilities included a liability related to the
acquisition of an operating licence as part of the fulfilment of a
contract in the United Kingdom with a UK administration, for
�0.7 million (�15.1 million at 31 December 2019), and also, in
2020, funding requirements for the Group’s investments in
corporate venture funds, for �11.3 million (�10.0 million at
31 December 2019).

At 31 December 2020, Derivatives consisted of interest rate and
foreign currency hedges (see Notes 12.5.3 and 12.5.4).

Put options granted to non-controlling interests

When non-controlling interests have an option to sell their
investment to the Group, a financial liability is recorded in other
non-current liabilities for the present value of the option’s
estimated exercise price. The offset of the financial liability
generated by these commitments is deducted from:

the corresponding amount of non-controlling interestsp

initially; and

the Group’s share of consolidated reserves for the remainder.p

Subsequent changes in this put option arising from changes in
estimates or relating to the unwinding of discount are offset
against the corresponding non-controlling interests and the
remainder is deducted from the Group’s share of consolidated
reserves.
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Other current liabilities7.5.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Liabilities on fixed assets – Portion due in less than one year 18.1 3.0
Advances and payments on account received for orders 22.3 5.5
Employee-related liabilities 445.4 443.8
Tax liabilities 223.7 239.2
Corporate income tax 102.2 143.6
Customer contract liabilities 328.2 296.6
Other liabilities 23.4 88.9
Derivatives 3.8 0.3

TOTAL 1,167.1 1,220.9

Customer contract liabilities are described in Note 4.1. Changes
arose in part from the transformation of former liabilities into
revenue, and in part from the appearance of new liabilities due to
services that have been invoiced but not yet performed. The
majority of these liabilities existing at 31 December 2019 were
converted into revenue during financial year 2020.

performance share plans for �3.5 million (�16.9 million at
31 December 2019). They also include liabilities related to the put
option granted on their shares to minority shareholders in Tecfit
(the holding company of Galitt), previously classified within
non-current liabilities and exercisable in April 2021 for
�6.1 million. In 2019, they included the �42.0 million option
granted to SAB’s minority shareholders, which was exercised inOther liabilities include in particular the Group’s commitment to
July 2020 for �37.6 million.buy back its own shares to be used in connection with its free

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE NOTE 8

ASSETS

Goodwill8.1.
Statement of changes in goodwill8.1.1.

Movements in financial year 2020 were as follows:

(in millions of euros) Gross value Impairment
Carrying
amount

31 December 2018 1,787.6 79.1 1,708.5
Acquisitions

SABp 59.9 - 59.9
Sopra Financial Technology GmbHp 5.5 - 5.5
NeoSpheresp 3.7 - 3.7

Adjustments for business combinations 1.5 - 1.5
Removal from the scope of consolidation -1.4 - -1.4
Impairment - - -
Translation adjustments 37.6 1.4 36.2

31 December 2019 1,894.4 80.5 1,813.9
Acquisitions

Sodifrancep 58.0 - 58.0
CX Partnersp 5.8 - 5.8
ADN’cop 2.0 - 2.0

Adjustments for business combinations (SAB) 5.8 - 5.8
Removal from the scope of consolidation - - -
Impairment - - -
Translation adjustments -43.8 -1.5 -42.3

31 DECEMBER 2020 1,922.2 79.0 1,843.2
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The �42.3 million change in translation adjustments mainly resulted from changes in the value of the euro against the following
currencies:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

GBP -38.2 34.6
NOK-SEK -4.0 0.8
Other currencies -0.1 0.8

TOTAL -42.3 36.2

Breakdown of goodwill by cash-generating unit (CGU)8.1.2.

The net carrying amounts of goodwill by CGU are as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

France 558.7 498.7
United Kingdom 571.3 598.0
Other Europe (1) 330.9 334.0
Sopra Banking Software 366.1 367.0
Sopra HR Software 16.2 16.2

TOTAL 1,843.2 1,813.9

“Other Europe” comprises the following CGUs, which are tested separately: Germany, Scandinavia, Spain, Italy, Switzerland, Benelux and Sopra Financial Technology.(1)

For each business combination, the Group may elect to
recognise under its balance sheet assets either partial goodwill
(corresponding only to its percentage of ownership interest) or
full goodwill (also including the goodwill corresponding to
minority interests) according to the method for business
combinations presented in Note 2.1. This decision is made on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.

Should the calculation of goodwill result in a negative difference
(bargain purchase), the Group recognises the resulting gain
entirely in profit or loss, after reassessing whether all assets and
liabilities have been correctly identified.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purposes
of impairment tests as set out in Note 8.1.3. Such tests are
performed when there is an indication of impairment, and in
any event at the balance sheet date of 31 December.

Impairment testing8.1.3.

The Group conducted impairment testing at 30 June because it practice. It began by reviewing its discount rate and perpetual
deemed the consequences of the Covid-19 crisis constituted an growth rate parameters with respect to 31 December 2019 of the
indication of impairment. The Group did not recognise any previous year. As part of the exercise, it decided not to include an
impairment as a result of this testing. The Group also performed additional risk premium related to Covid-19 in calculations of its
impairment tests at 31 December 2020 in line with standard discount rate.

The tests were thus performed using the following parameters:

 

Discount rate Perpetual growth rate

31/12/2020 31/12/2019 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

France 8.2% 8.5% 2.0% 2.1%
United Kingdom 8.4% 9.2% 2.0% 2.1%
Other Europe 8.2% to 9.0% 8.4% to 9.8% 2.0% 2.1%
Sopra Banking Software 8.2% 8.5% 2.0% 2.1%
Sopra HR Software 8.2% 8.5% 2.0% 2.1%
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The Group then applied these parameters to its cash flow
projections. These projections factor in the impact of the
coronavirus crisis, including estimates of a return to pre-crisis levels
of business activity and profitability, cash-generating unit by
cash-generating unit based on the activities and major contracts
affected within each one. These tests did not lead to any
recognition of impairment.

The Group also tested 1.0-point changes in these assumptions. A
1.0-point decrease in the perpetual growth rate, a 1.0-point
increase in the discount rate, or both, would not lead to any
recognition of impairment.

Furthermore, the Group also performed additional testing to
measure sensitivity to a decrease in the operating margin for the
Sopra Banking Software CGU. The Group would need to write
down the assets of this CGU in the event of a 3.4-point decrease in
the operating margin, all other things being equal.

rate, operating margin and revenue growth rate) for each
cash-generating unit.

Finally, additional testing was also performed to measure sensitivity
to key assumptions (such as the discount rate, perpetual growth

The Group performed tests using the following assumptions:

a 2-point increase in the discount rate; orp

a 2-point decrease in the perpetual growth rate (i.e. no perpetualp

growth); or

the combination of a 2-point increase in the discount rate and ap

2-point decrease in the perpetual growth rate; or

a 2-point decrease in the projected operating margin; orp

a 2-point decrease in the projected growth rate.p

Based on these tests, the Group would be required to write down
its assets for the “Sopra Banking Software” CGU alone in the event
of an increase of more than 1.6 points in the discount rate
combined with a simultaneous 0.5-point decrease in the perpetual
growth rate, all other things being equal. For the other CGUs, the
additional tests which were undertaken to measure sensitivity to key
assumptions would not lead to the recognition of any impairment.

IAS 36 Impairment of Assets requires that an entity assess at each
reporting date whether there is any indication that an asset may
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity must estimate
the asset’s recoverable amount.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, an
entity must also:

test intangible assets with indefinite useful lives annually;p

test the impairment of goodwill acquired in a businessp

combination.

In practice, impairment testing is above all relevant to goodwill,
which constitutes the majority of Sopra Steria Group’s
consolidated non-current assets.

Impairment testing is performed at the level of the
cash-generating units (CGUs) to which assets are allocated. A CGU
is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from
other assets or groups of assets.

The Group’s segmentation into CGUs is consistent with the
operating structure of its businesses, its management and
reporting system, and its segment reporting (see Note 3).
Impairment testing involves comparing CGUs’ carrying amounts
with their recoverable amounts. A CGU’s recoverable amount is
the higher of its fair value (generally market value) less costs of
disposal and its value in use. Due to the application of IFRS 16
Leases starting 1 January 2019, the carrying amount of assets
includes right-of-use assets less lease liabilities.

The value in use of a CGU is determined using the discounted cash
flow (DCF) method:

cash flows for an explicit forecast period of five years, with thep

first year of the period based on the budget;

cash flows beyond the five-year explicit period are calculated byp

applying a perpetual growth rate to the last cash flow for the
foreseeable period, reflecting the anticipated rate of real
long-term economic growth adjusted for long-term inflation
forecasts.

The Group decided to include lease payments in cash flows
following the application of IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019.

The discount rate is based on the weighted average cost of capital.
This is compared with the estimates produced by financial
analysts. The final discount rate used for each CGU is derived from
this comparison and falls between the weighted average cost of
capital and the average of analyst estimates.

Perpetual growth rates are based on an average of analyst
estimates.

Impairment losses are recognised to the extent of any excess of a
CGU’s carrying amount over its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses are first allocated against goodwill and are charged to profit
or loss as part of Other operating income and expenses.

The reversal of impairment losses for goodwill arising on fully
consolidated investments is prohibited.
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Other intangible assets8.2.

(in millions of euros) Gross value Amortisation 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Enterprise software/Technology 90.5 48.1 42.4 52.2
Customer relationships 215.5 112.4 103.2 112.2
Favourable contracts 0.9 0.8 0.1 0.2
Brands 19.0 3.2 15.9 16.8
Software acquired and other intangible assets 335.7 264.3 71.4 91.4

TOTAL 661.7 428.8 232.9 272.9

Other intangible assets comprise technologies, customer business combination. Expenses relating to the amortisation of
relationships, favourable contracts, order backlogs and brands allocated intangible assets enter into the calculation of Profit from
allocated as part of the purchase price allocation process for a recurring operations.

Changes in Intangible assets are set out in the table below:

(in millions of euros) Gross value Amortisation
Carrying
amount

31 december 2018 498.4 244.9 253.5
Changes in scope 105.7 68.2 37.4
Allocated intangible assets 25.6 - 25.6
Acquisitions 5.8 - 5.8
Disposals – Scrapping -14.2 -14.0 -0.3
Other movements -0.2 -2.0 1.8
Translation adjustments 12.5 6.6 6.0
Amortisation charge - 56.9 -56.9

31 december 2019 633.5 360.6 272.9
Changes in scope 20.8 15.4 5.4
Allocated intangible assets 18.0 - 18.0
Acquisitions 10.8 - 10.8
Disposals – Scrapping -5.1 -4.5 -0.6
Other movements -1.8 -1.0 -0.8
Translation adjustments -14.6 -8.9 -5.7
Amortisation charge - 67.1 -67.1

31 DECEMBER 2020 661.7 428.8 232.9

Allocated intangible assets recognised in respect of new acquisitions
during the 2020 financial year are described in Note 2.1. They
consisted of �18.0 million in customer relationships related to the
acquisition of Sodifrance. In 2019, the acquisitions of SAB and SFT
led to the recognition of �8.4 million in customer relationships and
�17.2 million in enterprise software.

Other changes mainly arose from intangible assets acquired as part
of business combinations carried out in 2020.

No significant development expenditures for software and solutions
(Banking, Human Resources and Property Management) have been
recognised under intangible assets.

Assets acquired separatelya.

These are software assets recorded at cost. They are amortised
using the straight-line method over one to ten years, depending
on their estimated useful lives.

Assets acquired in connection with businessb.
combinations

These are software assets, customer relationships, brands and
distributor relationships measured at fair value as part of a
purchase price allocation for entities acquired in business
combinations. They are amortised using the straight-line method
over three to fifteen years, depending on their estimated useful
lives. Acquired brands whose useful lives cannot be estimated are
not amortised.
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Internally generated assetsc.

Pursuant to IAS 38 Intangible Assets:

research and development costs are expensed in the year inp

which they are incurred;

software development costs are capitalised if all of the followingp

can be demonstrated:

technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset for use•
or sale,

intent to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it,•

ability to use or sell the intangible asset,•

generation of probable future economic benefits,•

availability of adequate technical, financial and other•
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset,

ability to reliably measure the expenditure attributable to the•
intangible asset during its development.

Property, plant and equipment8.3.

(in millions of euros)

Land and
buildings

Fixtures and
fittings,

furniture and
sundry

equipment IT equipment Total

Gross value

31 december 2018 34.9 219.8 162.1 416.8
Changes in scope 13.1 20.6 12.8 46.4
Acquisitions 0.5 16.9 15.6 33.0
Disposals – Scrapping -0.0 -2.3 -7.9 -10.3
Other movements 0.0 -10.7 -38.1 -48.8
Translation adjustments 0.5 1.2 2.4 4.2

31 december 2019 49.1 245.5 146.8 441.3
Changes in scope 0.5 4.4 2.3 7.2
Acquisitions 2.1 12.0 13.8 27.8
Disposals – Scrapping -4.8 -6.1 -3.8 -14.7
Other movements 0.7 -0.1 0.3 1.0
Translation adjustments -1.8 -2.7 -4.1 -8.6

31 DECEMBER 2020 45.7 253.1 155.2 454.1

Depreciation

31 december 2018 23.4 130.4 118.3 272.2
Changes in scope 2.9 13.2 9.6 25.7
Charges 2.0 17.5 15.9 35.4
Disposals – Scrapping -0.0 -2.1 -7.8 -9.9
Other movements -0.0 -6.5 -21.7 -28.2
Translation adjustments 0.3 0.7 1.8 2.9

31 december 2019 28.6 153.2 116.2 298.0
Changes in scope 0.4 2.0 1.9 4.2
Charges 2.6 18.0 17.5 38.1
Disposals – Scrapping -3.2 -5.9 -3.5 -12.6
Other movements -0.3 1.0 -0.5 0.1
Translation adjustments -1.1 -1.9 -3.2 -6.2

31 DECEMBER 2020 27.0 166.3 128.3 321.6

Net value

31 december 2018 11.5 89.4 43.8 144.7

31 december 2019 20.4 92.3 30.6 143.4

31 DECEMBER 2020 18.7 86.8 26.9 132.5

The Group’s investments in property, plant and equipment equipment in France and abroad and �13.8 million for IT
(�27.8 million) mainly consisted of �6.9 million for office equipment.
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Property, plant and equipment essentially consists of land and
buildings, fixtures and fittings, office furniture and equipment,
and IT equipment.

Property, plant and equipment is measured at acquisition cost
(excluding any borrowing costs) less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. No amounts have been remeasured.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected useful lives of each of the following fixed asset
categories:

buildings: 25 to 30 years;p

fixtures and fittings: 4 to 10 years;p

IT hardware and equipment: 3 to 8 years;p

vehicles: 4 to 5 years;p

office furniture and equipment: 4 to 10 years.p

Depreciation is applied against assets’ acquisition cost after
deducting any residual value. Assets’ residual values and expected
useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

LEASESNOTE 9

Right-of-use assets by category of leased assets9.1.

(in millions of euros) Premises Vehicles IT equipment

Other
property, plant
and equipment Total

Gross value

31 december 2018 - - - -
First-time application of IFRS 16 523.5 35.7 37.6 4.0 600.7
Changes in scope 52.3 0.3 5.6 0.4 58.6
Acquisitions 56.5 7.8 7.8 0.2 72.2
Disposals – Scrapping -27.6 -9.3 -11.4 -0.7 -49.0
Other movements - - 2.1 - 2.1
Translation adjustments 4.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 4.9

31 december 2019 609.1 34.6 41.8 4.0 689.4
Changes in scope 15.2 0.6 - 0.0 15.9
Acquisitions 68.0 6.8 3.5 1.4 79.7
Disposals – Scrapping -82.6 -5.6 -10.8 -0.6 -99.7
Other movements -1.2 0.3 -0.3 -0.1 -1.2
Translation adjustments 3.1 0.6 0.3 -0.1 3.9

31 DECEMBER 2020 611.6 37.3 34.5 4.6 688.0

Depreciation

31 december 2018 - - - - -
First-time application of IFRS 16 256.5 18.1 21.6 1.9 298.1
Changes in scope 13.6 0.2 0.2 0.3 14.3
Charges 74.4 9.9 10.8 1.2 96.4
Disposals – Scrapping -21.2 -9.2 -11.1 -0.7 -42.2
Other movements - - 0.1 - 0.1
Translation adjustments 2.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 2.3

31 december 2019 325.5 19.0 21.7 2.8 369.1
Changes in scope 8.4 0.3 - 0.0 8.6
Charges 86.9 9.4 9.2 0.9 106.4
Disposals – Scrapping -68.2 -5.6 -10.1 -0.5 -84.4
Other movements 0.2 0.1 -0.0 -0.0 0.2
Translation adjustments -1.9 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -2.3

31 DECEMBER 2020 350.9 23.0 20.6 3.1 397.7

Net value

31 december 2018 - - - - -

31 december 2019 283.6 15.5 20.1 1.2 320.4

31 DECEMBER 2020 260.7 14.3 13.8 1.5 290.3
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Leases

Leases are recognised in the balance sheet at the lease
commencement date, which corresponds to the date at which
the lessor makes the underlying asset available to the lessee, and
results in the recognition of a balance sheet asset within
Right-of-use assets and a liability within Lease liabilities. The
value of lease liabilities corresponds to the present value of
minimum future payments, discounted over the lease term using
either the interest rate implicit in the lease or otherwise the
incremental borrowing rate of the entity leasing the asset. The
lease term chiefly reflects the non-cancellable period of the lease.
The Group may adjust it, where it consider this to be reasonable,
to reflect the period of a renewal or an extension option, which
could be exercised, or an early termination option, which could
be invoked where the corresponding penalties (contractual
penalties and economic costs of doing so) would be more than
negligible.

At the lease commencement date, the value of the right-of-use
asset recognised in the balance sheet corresponds to the lease
liability adjusted for any initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
the lease, prepaid lease payments, incentives received from the
lessor at that date, or costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

guarantees, the exercise price of a purchase option, and
termination or non-renewal penalties if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise or not exercise these options. Some of these
values may change over the term of the lease, in which case the
values of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are revised
upward or downward. They do not include any service
components that may be included in the lease, which continue
to be recognised as expenses.

Minimum future payments include fixed lease payments, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, residual value

In the balance sheet, Lease liabilities are split out into
non-current and current portions. Right-of-use assets are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term or the
useful life of the underlying asset if the lease transfers ownership
of the asset to the lessee, or if the lessee is reasonably certain of
exercising a purchase option. In the income statement, these
amortisation expenses are included within Depreciation,
amortisation, provisions and impairment under Operating profit
on business activity. The Net interest expense on lease liabilities is
split out from the line item Other financial income and expenses.

Finally, as an exception, short-term leases (lease term of
12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets (individual
value less than 5,000 USD) are directly recognised as expenses
and are therefore not restated in the balance sheet. Variable
lease payments are also recognised as expenses according to the
use or revenue generated by the use of the underlying asset.

Breakdown of lease liabilities by maturity9.2.

(in millions of euros)

Carrying
amount Current Non-current

Breakdown of non-current portion

1 to
2 years

2 to
3 years

3 to
4 years

4 to
5 years

More
than

5 years

LEASE LIABILITIES 317.5 91.3 226.2 61.2 44.5 33.1 26.4 60.9

EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTSNOTE 10

Net profit from associates10.1.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020
% held at

31/12/2020 31/12/2019
% held at

31/12/2019

Share of net result of Axway Software 2.7 32.38% 1.8 32.57%
Share of net result of Holocare -0.5 66.67% - -

TOTAL 2.3 1.8
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Carrying amount of investments in associates10.2.
The carrying amount of investments in associates consisted mainly of the value of Axway Software shares. This latter changed as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Axway Software shares

Gross value Impairment
Carrying
amount

31 december 2018 195.1 - 195.1
Changes in scope - - -
Share capital transactions - - -
Dividends paid -2.8 - -2.8
Net profit 1.8 - 1.8
Translation adjustments 0.9 - 0.9
Changes in shareholding 0.0 - 0.0
Disposal - - -
Other movements 0.0 - 0.0

31 december 2019 195.0 - 195.0
Changes in scope - - -
Share capital transactions 0.2 - 0.2
Dividends paid - - -
Net profit 2.7 - 2.7
Translation adjustments -6.6 - -6.6
Changes in shareholding -0.7 - -0.7
Disposal - - -
Other movements 1.4 - 1.4

31 DECEMBER 2020 192.0 - 192.0

At 31 December 2020, Sopra Steria Group held a 32.38% stake, returns from this subsidiary. As such, the Group exerts a significant
versus 32.57% at 31 December 2019. This stake does not give the influence and reviews this situation each financial year. In 2020, no
Group a controlling interest in this subsidiary and does not allow it events or developments occurred that changed this situation.
to involve itself in the running of business or influence variable

Their recoverable amount is estimated as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Market value (Category 1)* 186.7 85.7
Market value less costs to sell 182.9 84.0
Value in use 234.2 207.4
DCF calculation parameters:

- Discount ratep 8.6% 9.5%
- Perpetual growth ratep 2.2% 2.0%

RECOVERABLE AMOUNT 234.2 207.4

Since Axway Software’s shares are listed, their fair (market) value less costs of disposal is equal to market price less costs to sell, which (*)
constitutes the Level 1 fair value under IFRS.

Their value in use – the higher of the two values used to determine
the recoverable amount – supports the carrying amount of the
equity-accounted Axway Software shares at 31 December 2020.

in the discount rate, nor a 0.5-point decrease in the perpetual
growth rate, nor the combination of these two factors would lead
to an impairment loss. This test is based on the judgement of
management and was developed within the context of uncertaintiesThe Group tested 0.5-point changes in its assumptions, all other
inherent in the transformation of Axway Software’s business model.things being equal. Based on this test, neither a 0.5-point increase
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE AXWAY SOFTWARE GROUP❙

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Non-current assets 421.7 442.7
Current assets 137.8 126.2
Equity 355.5 362.6
Non-current liabilities excluding equity 82.6 75.7
Current liabilities 121.4 130.6
Revenue 297.2 300.0

NET PROFIT 8.5 5.4

Recognition and impairment of investments in associates

Investments in associates are initially recognised at acquisition
cost, and their value is then adjusted to reflect changes in the
Group’s share of their net assets. The remainder of this share
appears under Equity-accounted investments on the asset side of
the balance sheet. Its change over the financial year is recognised
in profit or loss within Net profit from associates.

Equity-accounted shares in a company constitute a single asset
and must be tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

Goodwill on associates is included in the value of
equity-accounted investments, the value of which is measured
inclusive of goodwill. As such, goodwill on associates must not be
tested for impairment separately.

must carry out an impairment test consisting of comparing the
carrying amount of the relevant equity-accounted investment with
its recoverable amount.

At each balance sheet date, where there is an indication of
impairment of an investment in an associate, the parent company

Under IAS 36, the recoverable amount of an investment in an
associate is the higher of its value in use, calculated on the basis of
future cash flows, and the fair value of the investment less costs of
disposal. Where an associate’s shares are listed, fair value less
costs of disposal is equal to market price less costs to sell: in the
absence of any firm sale agreement, this is the price at which the
shares are currently trading.

Any impairment losses are charged to profit or loss as Other
operating income and expenses.

Where there is an improvement in the recoverable amount of an
equity-accounted investment such that the impairment loss may
be written back, the full amount of the impairment loss, including
the portion relating to goodwill, must be written back.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIESNOTE 11

Current and non-current provisions11.1.

(in millions of euros) 01/01/2020
Changes
in scope Charges

Reversals
(used)

Reversals
(not used) Other

Translation
adjust-ments 31/12/2020

Non-current
portion

Current
portion

Disputes 4.1 2.5 1.8 -0.5 -0.3 1.9 -0.0 9.5 7.0 2.5
Losses 
on contracts 0.6 - 0.7 -1.9 - 2.6 -0.1 1.9 1.2 0.7
Tax risks other 
than income tax 40.8 0.9 - - -4.7 - - 37.0 37.0 -
Restructuring 4.0 - 8.4 -3.8 -0.4 - -0.0 8.2 2.2 6.0
Cost of renovating 
premises 8.8 - 2.8 -0.3 -1.3 3.0 -0.4 12.6 10.2 2.4
Other 
contingencies 18.6 24.0 14.5 -1.8 -2.0 -5.9 -0.7 46.8 31.8 15.0

TOTAL 77.0 27.4 28.3 -8.4 -8.7 1.6 -1.1 116.0 89.4 26.6
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Provisions for disputes mainly cover disputes before employment
tribunals and end-of-contract bonuses for employees (�4.6 million
at 31 December 2020, versus �3.1 million at 31 December 2019).
The remainder corresponds to customer disputes, primarily in
France.

Provisions for tax risks other than income tax mainly concern risks
relating to the R&D tax credit in France.

Provisions for restructuring correspond to the cost of one-off
restructuring measures, mainly in Germany (�5.7 million) and
France (�1.4 million).

Other provisions for contingencies mainly cover risks relating to
clients and projects (�36.3 million, including �2.4 million in
France, �4.4 million in the United Kingdom, �3.7 million in
Germany and �23.5 million for Sopra Banking Software from the
acquisition of Fidor Solutions), contractual risks (�3.7 million) and
employee-related risks (�4.1 million).

Present obligations resulting from past events involving third
parties are recognised in provisions only when it is probable that
such obligations will give rise to an outflow of resources to third
parties without consideration from said parties that is at least
equivalent, and if the outflow of resources can be reliably
measured.

Since provisions are estimated based on future risks and expenses,
such amounts include an element of uncertainty and may be
adjusted in subsequent periods. The impact of discounting
provisions is taken into account if significant.

detailed plan presented or the plan implementation has
commenced. This cost mainly corresponds to severance payments,
early retirement, costs related to notice periods not worked,
training costs for departing employees and other costs relating to
site closures. A provision is recognised for the rent and related
costs to be paid, net of estimated subleasing income, in respect of
any property if the asset is subleased or vacant and is not intended
to be used in connection with main activities.

In the specific case of restructuring, an obligation is recognised as
soon as the restructuring has been publicly announced and a

Scrapped assets and impairment of inventories and other assets
directly related to the restructuring measures are also recognised
in restructuring costs.

Contingent liabilities11.2.
The contingent liabilities recognised arose as a result of the Sopra-Steria business combination in 2014 and the acquisition of Sodifrance
in 2020.

At 31 December 2020, they totalled �6.9 million after tax, including �6.0 million corresponding to tax and contractual risks in India.

To the extent that a liability is not probable or may not be reliably estimated, a contingent liability is disclosed by the Group among its
commitments given. By exception, in connection with business combinations, the Group may recognise a contingent liability on the balance
sheet if it results from a present obligation arising from past events and its fair value can be reliably estimated, even where it is not probable
that an outflow of resources will be necessary to extinguish the obligation.
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FINANCING AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENTNOTE 12

Financial income and expenses12.1.
Cost of net financial debt12.1.1.

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Interest income 1.4 2.7

Income from cash and cash equivalents 1.4 2.7
Interest expenses -10.4 -11.4
Gains and losses on hedges of gross financial debt -0.9 -1.2
Cost of gross financial debt -11.3 -12.6

COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT -9.9 -9.9

The �1.3 million decrease in interest income resulted from the
lower average balance of investments in India (�29.7 million in
2020, versus �37.1 million in 2019) and from the lower rate of
returns (3.8% in 2020 versus 6.2% in 2019).

Medium-Term Notes) was �691 million in 2020, versus
�828 million in 2019. The average cost of borrowing after hedging
was 1.64% in 2020 (1.52% in 2019). This increase in the average
cost of borrowing resulted in part from the decrease in the amount
of NEU CP and new issues of NEU MTN, as well as from theThe Cost of gross financial debt (�11.3 million) was down by
combined decrease in the interest rates and balance on the�1.3 million. The average amount of debt outstanding in respect
syndicated loan.of bank borrowings, bonds, NEU CP (Negotiable European

Commercial Paper) and NEU MTN (Negotiable European

Other financial income and expenses12.1.2.

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Foreign exchange gains and losses 0.5 0.1

Other financial income 0.6 0.9
Net interest expense on lease liabilities -7.6 -9.9
Net interest expense on retirement benefit obligations -4.2 -6.9
Expense on unwinding of discounted non-current liabilities -0.9 -0.9
Change in the value of derivatives 0.7 -0.0
Gain or loss on disposal of financial assets 0.0 2.7
Other financial expenses -4.4 -0.5

Total other financial expenses -16.4 -15.7

TOTAL OTHER FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES -15.4 -14.7

Other financial expenses include the impairment of securities for �3.3 million.
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Cash and cash equivalents12.2.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Short-term investment securities 39.4 23.5
Cash and cash equivalents 206.1 174.0

Cash and cash equivalents 245.5 197.5
Current bank overdrafts -0.6 -4.9

NET CASH IN THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 245.0 192.6

Net cash and cash equivalents include available liquid funds (cash at
bank and in hand), liquid marketable securities that meet the
definition of cash equivalents, bills of exchange presented for
collection and falling due before the balance sheet date, and
temporary bank overdrafts.

Net debt, as presented in Note 12.3, is more representative of the
Group’s financial position.

the liquidity agreement. The risk of a change in value on these
investments is negligible.

Marketable securities and other short-term investments include
money-market holdings, short-term deposits and advances under

Of the �245.5 million in cash and cash equivalents (excluding
current bank overdrafts) at 31 December 2020, �148.7 million was
held by the parent company and �96.8 million by the subsidiaries.
Among the subsidiaries, entities in India contributed �41.5 million
to net cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2020 (versus
�27.1 million at 31 December 2019).

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank demand deposits,
other highly liquid investments with maturities not exceeding three
months, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included in
current liabilities as part of Financial debt – Short-term portion.

Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash, and that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, with the exception of foreign exchange impacts.

UCITS classified by the AMF (France’s financial markets regulator)
as belonging to the “money market fund” and “short-term money
market fund” categories are, for practical purposes, presumed to
automatically meet all four quoted eligibility criteria. Other cash
UCITS cannot be presumed to be eligible for classification as “cash
equivalents”: an analysis must be carried out to establish whether
or not the four quoted criteria are met.

Cash equivalents are recognised at fair value; changes in fair value
are charged to profit or loss under Cost of net financial debt.

Financial debt – Net financial debt12.3.

(in millions of euros) Current Non-current 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Bonds 2.3 249.4 251.7 251.6
Bank borrowings 11.9 185.1 197.0 223.5
Other sundry financial debt 91.8 130.0 221.8 231.4
Current bank overdrafts 0.6 - 0.6 4.9

FINANCIAL DEBT 106.6 564.5 671.2 711.4
Short-term investment securities -39.4 - -39.4 -23.5
Cash and cash equivalents -206.1 - -206.1 -174.0

NET FINANCIAL DEBT -138.9 564.5 425.6 513.9
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Financial debt essentially comprises the following:

bond debt and bank borrowings, initially recognised at fairp

value net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently recognised at amortised cost; any difference
between the capital amounts borrowed (net of transaction
costs) and the amounts repayable is recognised in profit or loss
over the duration of the borrowings using the effective interest
method;

NEU CP short-term negotiable securities, which have a maturityp

of less than 12 months and are recognised at amortised cost;

NEU MTN medium-term negotiable securities, which havep

maturities spread over one to five years from issuance, and are
recognised at amortised cost;

current bank overdrafts.p

Financial debt repayable within 12 months of the balance sheet
date is classified as current liabilities.

Bonds12.3.1.

On 5 July 2019, the Group issued a �250 million bond to
top-ranking institutional investors. The bond has two tranches: a
7-year �130 million bond with a fixed annual coupon of 1.749%,
and an 8-year �120 million tranche with a fixed annual coupon of
2.0%.

Bank borrowings12.3.2.

In 2014, the Group took out a �1,200 million five-year borrowing
facility with two options to extend the expiry date by one year.
This facility comprised a �200 million amortising tranche, an
£80 million amortising tranche and a �900 million multi-currency
revolving credit line. In 2018, following the exercise of the second
one-year extension option, the expiry date was postponed to 6 July
2023. At 31 December 2020, the outstanding amount drawn on
the loan was from the two amortising tranches (�96 million and
£38.4 million after contractual amortisations for the period). The
�900 million multi-currency revolving credit facility is undrawn. In
addition, the Group also has two non-amortising bilateral bank
facilities: one drawn to �60 million and the other undrawn for
�50 million, both maturing in 2024.

Other financial debt12.3.3.

In 2015, the Group arranged an unrated multi-currency NEU CP
programme of short-term negotiable securities that was not
underwritten, in a maximum amount of �700 million. This
programme is presented in documentation available on the Banque
de France website, which was last updated on 30 June 2020. The
average amount outstanding under the NEU CP programme was
�110.1 million in 2020, compared with �268.2 million in 2019.

The outstanding amount under the NEU CP programme at
31 December 2020 was �65.0 million (�120.0 million at
31 December 2019). The NEU CPs are included in Other sundry
financial debt.

In December 2017, as part of its efforts to diversify its borrowings,
the Group arranged an NEU MTN programme of medium-term
negotiable securities that was not underwritten, with a maximum
amount of �300 million. As was the case for the earlier NEU CP
programme, the NEU MTN programme is presented in
documentation available on the Banque de France website. The NEU
MTN programme pays fixed or floating rates, with a spread at each
issue date, and maturities range from one to five years. At
31 December 2020, the outstanding amount under the NEU MTN
programme was �144.0 million, with maturities of up to three
years (�99.0 million at 31 December 2019). The net increase in the
amount of NEU MTN corresponded to �65 million in matured
securities and �110 million in new issues. The NEU MTNs are
included in Other sundry financial debt.
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Derivatives reported in the balance sheet12.4.

(in millions of euros)

31/12/2020 Breakdown by class of financial instrument

Carrying
amount Fair value

Assets and
liabilities at

fair value
through
profit or

loss

Financial
assets at

fair value
through

OCI

Loans,
receivables
and other

debt

Financial
liabilities

at
amortised

cost Derivatives

Other items
not

considered
as financial

instruments

Non-current financial assets 74.0 74.0 - 19.4 54.2 - 0.3 -
Trade receivables and related 
accounts 954.6 954.6 - - 954.6 - - -
Other current assets 410.6 410.6 - - 323.9 - 1.2 85.5
Cash and cash equivalents 245.5 245.5 245.5 - - - - -

FINANCIAL ASSETS 1,684.6 1,684.6 245.5 19.4 1,332.7 - 1.5 85.5

Financial debt – Long-term 
portion 564.5 564.5 - - - 564.5 - -
Other non-current liabilities 104.1 104.1 - - 101.7 - 2.4 -
Financial debt – Short-term 
portion 106.6 106.6 - - - 106.6 - -
Trade payables and related 
accounts 278.6 278.6 - - 278.6 - - -
Other current liabilities 1,167.1 1,167.1 - - 1,061.0 - 3.8 102.2

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 2,221.0 2,221.0 - - 1,441.3 671.2 6.2 102.2

Items measured at fair value through profit or loss, and derivative
hedging instruments, are valued by reference to quoted interbank
interest rates (such as Euribor) and to foreign exchange rates set
daily by the European Central Bank. All financial instruments in this
category are financial assets and liabilities classified as such upon
first recognition.

Financial debt is recognised at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate. Hedging instruments may be put in place to hedge
against fluctuations in interest rates by swapping part of the
Group’s floating-rate debt for fixed-rate debt.

through the use of derivatives, including exchange-traded futures
and options as well as over-the-counter instruments with top-tier
counterparties, as part of its overall risk management policy and due
to the substantial scale of its production activities in India, Poland
and Tunisia.

The Group has entered into and continues to implement
transactions designed to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk

Derivatives are recognised at fair value in the consolidated balance
sheet.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives not qualifying for hedge
accounting are recognised directly in profit or loss for the period.

Income tax receivables and payables are not financial instruments.
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The profit and loss impact of these financial instruments is as follows:

(in millions of euros)

31/12/2020 Breakdown by category of instrument

Profit or
loss impact

Fair value
through
profit or

loss

Financial
assets at

fair value
through OCI

Loans,
receivables
and other

debt

Liabilities at
amortised

cost Derivatives

Total interest income 1.4 - 1.4 - - -
Total interest expense -10.4 - - - -10.4 -
Remeasurement -0.9 - - - - -0.9

NET GAINS OR LOSSES -9.9 - 1.4 - -10.4 -0.9

The Group uses derivatives such as currency forwards, swaps and
options to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk and fluctuations
in foreign currencies. Derivatives are recognised at fair value.

Any gains or losses resulting from fair value movements in
derivatives not designated as hedging instruments are recognised
directly in profit or loss as Other financial income and expenses.

The fair value of currency forwards is calculated by reference to
current rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair
value of interest rate swaps is determined by reference to the
market value of similar instruments.

For hedge accounting purposes, hedges are classified as either:

fair value hedges, which hedge exposure to changes in the fairp

value of a recognised asset or liability or a firm commitment
(except foreign currency risk);

cash flow hedges, which hedge exposure to fluctuations in cashp

flows attributable either to a specific risk associated with a
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable future
transaction or foreign currency risk on a firm commitment;

hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.p

Hedging instruments that satisfy hedge accounting criteria are
recognised as follows:

Fair value hedgesa.

purchase or sale for hedges of commercial risk. Fair value gains
and losses on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk
adjust the carrying amount of the hedged item and are also
recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of a derivative designated as a fair value
hedge are recognised in profit or loss (Other current operating
income and expenses or Other financial income and expenses
according to the type of hedged item). The ineffective portion of
the hedges is recognised in profit or loss as part of Other financial
income or Other financial expenses, either over the term of the
instrument for financial hedges, or at the date of the hedged

Cash flow hedgesb.

The gain or loss corresponding to the effective portion of the
hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the
ineffective portion is taken to profit or loss, in Other financial
income and expenses.

Gains and losses recognised directly in equity are released to profit
or loss under Other comprehensive income in the period during
which the hedged transaction impacts profit or loss.

If the Group does not expect the realisation of the forecast
transaction or commitment, the gains and losses previously
recognised directly in equity will be released to profit or loss. If the
hedging instrument matures, is sold, cancelled or exercised and is
not replaced or renewed or if its designation as a hedging
instrument is revoked, amounts previously recognised in equity will
be held in equity until realisation of the forecast transaction or
firm commitment.

Hedges of a net investmentc.

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including
hedges of monetary items recognised as part of a net investment,
are recognised in Other comprehensive income.

The gain or loss corresponding to the effective portion of the
hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the
ineffective portion is taken to profit or loss.

On the disposal of the foreign operation, cumulative gains and
losses recognised directly in equity are released to profit or loss.
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Financial risk management12.5.
Liquidity risk12.5.1.

The Group’s policy is to have borrowing facilities at its disposal that
are much larger than its needs and to manage cash centrally at
Group level where permitted by local law. Moreover, subsidiaries’
cash surpluses or borrowing requirements are managed centrally,
being invested or met by the Sopra Steria Group parent company,
which carries the bulk of the Group’s borrowings and bank credit
lines.

In 2020, the Covid-19 crisis did not have any significant
consequences on the Group’s liquidity given the financing already in
place and the cash generation during the period. The Group
renewed �65 million in NEU MTN maturing January 2020,
refinancing them in the amount of �110 million and was not
significantly impacted by the temporary closure in April 2020 of the
NEU CP market for non-rated borrowers.

The Group aims to diversify its borrowings. It launched a
�300 million NEU MTN programme in December 2017 to
supplement its �700 million NEU CP programme. In addition,
fixed-rate bilateral credit lines were in place for a total of
�110 million, with maturities in 2024. At 31 December 2020,
bilateral credit lines were drawn down in the amount of
�60 million.

At 31 December 2020, the Group had lines of credit totalling
�1,573 million, 29% of which was drawn down.

Undrawn available credit lines amounted to �950 million
(�900 million in RCFs and �50 million in bilateral credit lines), in
addition to undrawn overdraft facilities for �161 million. Aside
from the syndicated loan, bilateral credit lines and bonds, the
Group’s financing essentially consists of issues under NEU CP
(short-term commercial paper) and NEU MTN programmes. These
lines of credit break down as shown below:

Amount
authorised

at 31/12/2020
Drawdown

at 31/12/2020
Drawdown

rate
Repayment

terms

Interest
rate at

31/12/2020

�m £m �m £m

Available lines of credit

Bond 250.0 - 250.0 - 100%

At maturity
�130m 07/2026
�120m 07/2027 1.87%

Syndicated loan

Tranche Ap 96.0 - 96.0 - 100%
Amortising
until 2023 0.90%

Tranche Bp 38.4 38.4 100%
Amortising
until 2023 0.93%

Multi-currency revolving credit facility 900.0 - - 0%
At maturity

07/2023
Bilateral credit lines 110.0 60.0 55% 2024 0.40%
Other 12.9 - 12.9 - 100% 2021 0.00%
Overdraft 161.5 - 0.5 - 0% N/A 0.57%

Total lines of credit authorised 
per currency 1,530.4 38.4 419.4 38.4

TOTAL LINES OF CREDIT 
AUTHORISED (� EQUIVALENT) 1573.1 462.1 29% 1.34%

Other types of financing used
NEU CP & NEU MTN N/A N/A 209.0 N/A 2021 to 2023 0.10%
Other 0.1 N/A N/A

Total financing per currency 628.4 38.4

TOTAL FINANCING (� EQUIVALENT) 671.2 0.95%

Interest rates payable on the syndicated loan equal the interbank
rate of the currency concerned at the time of drawdown (minimum
0%), plus a margin set for a period of six months based on the
leverage ratio.

The �250 million bond issued on 5 July 2019 has an effective
interest rate of 1.749% for the �130 million tranche and 2% for
the �120 million tranche.

The syndicated loan and bond issue are subject to terms and
conditions, which include financial covenants.

Two financial ratios are calculated every six months using the
consolidated financial statements on a 12-month rolling basis:

the first – known as the leverage ratio – is equal to net financialp

debt divided by pro forma EBITDA;

the second – known as the interest coverage ratio – is equal top

pro forma EBITDA divided by the cost of net financial debt.

The first financial ratio must not exceed 3.0 at any reporting date.
The second ratio must not fall below 5.0.

Net financial debt is defined on a consolidated basis as all loans and
related borrowings (excluding intercompany liabilities and lease
liabilities), less available cash and cash equivalents.
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Pro forma EBITDA is consolidated operating profit on business of IFRS 16 Leases (see Note 1.5.1). It is calculated on a 12-month
activity adding back depreciation, amortisation and provisions rolling basis and is therefore restated so as to be presented in the
included in operating profit on business activity before the impact financial statements at constant scope over 12 months.

At 31 December 2020, the net financial debt/pro forma EBITDA ratio covenant was met, with the ratio coming in at 1.12 compared with a
covenant of 3.0. It is calculated as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Short-term borrowings (< 1 year) 106.6 217.1
Long-term borrowings (> 1 year) 564.5 494.4
Cash and cash equivalents -245.5 -197.5
Other financial guarantees -  -

Net financial debt (including financial guarantees) 425.6 513.9

Pro forma EBITDA 379.4 408.3

NET FINANCIAL DEBT/PRO FORMA EBITDA RATIO 1.12 1.26

For the second ratio, pro forma EBITDA is as defined above and the cost of net financial debt is also calculated on a rolling 12-month basis.

At 31 December 2020, the “Pro forma EBITDA/Cost of net financial debt” covenant – requiring a ratio of at least 5.0 – was met, with the
ratio coming in at 38.27. It is calculated as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Pro forma EBITDA 379.4 408.3

Cost of net financial debt 9.9 9.9

PRO FORMA EBITDA/COST OF NET FINANCIAL DEBT RATIO 38.27 41.35

In addition to satisfying the financial ratio prerequisites described
above, the Group’s two main financing agreements also contain:

certain performance requirements that are entirely customary forp

this type of financing;

clauses relating to events of default such as payment default,p

inaccurate tax returns, cross-default, bankruptcy, or the
occurrence of an event having a material adverse effect;

clauses stipulating early repayment in full in the event that therep

is a change of control in ownership of the Company.

The bank loan agreement also stipulates a number of circumstances
in which the loan must be repaid in advance, in full or in part as
applicable, or renegotiated with the banks:

early repayment if all or a substantial number of the Company’sp

assets are sold;

repayment using proceeds from asset disposals (beyond ap

specified threshold);

repayment of a sum equal to each new borrowing taken out byp

the Company (beyond a specified threshold);

renegotiation of the financing terms and conditions in the eventp

of financial market disruption (i.e. market disruption clause). This
clause is only applicable if a minimum number of banks are
unable to obtain refinancing on the capital market at the date on
which the financing is requested, given interest rate fluctuations.
The purpose of this clause is to find a replacement rate.

At 31 December 2020, the maturity schedule for the Group’s financial debt was as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Carrying
amount

Total
contractual

flows

Less
than

1 year
1 to

2 years
2 to

3 years
3 to

4 years
4 to

5 years

More
than

5 years

Bond 251.7 277.7 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 254.8
Bank borrowings 197.0 205.7 14.6 14.1 117.0 60.0 - -
NEU CP & MTN 209.0 210.3 79.4 70.5 60.4 - - -
Other sundry financial debt 12.8 12.9 12.9 - - - - -
Current bank overdrafts 0.6 0.6 0.6 - - - - -

Financial debt 671.2 707.2 112.0 89.2 182.0 64.6 4.6 254.8
Short-term investment securities -39.4 -39.4 -39.4 - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents -206.1 -206.1 -206.1 - - - - -

CONSOLIDATED NET 
FINANCIAL DEBT 425.6 461.7 -133.5 89.2 182.0 64.6 4.6 254.8
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At 31 December 2020, the Group’s gross borrowings broke down as follows by type of debt and currency:

(in millions of euros)

Currency of origin

Euro Pound sterling Other Total

Bond 251.7 - - 251.7
Bank borrowings 146.1 39.0 - 185.1
Short-term bank borrowings (< 1 year) 8.4 3.6 - 11.9
NEU CP (commercial paper) & MTN 209.0 - - 209.0
Other sundry financial debt 12.8 - - 12.8
Bank overdrafts (cash liabilities) 0.5 -  - 0.5

GROSS FINANCIAL DEBT 628.5 42.6 - 671.2

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s portfolio of investment securities broke down as follows:

(in millions of euros) Short-term investments
Advances under the
liquidity agreement

Total portfolio
of investment securities

Net asset value 39.3 2.0 41.2

NET POSITION 39.3 2.0 41.2

Short-term investments are managed by the Group’s Finance
Department, and comply with internally defined principles
of prudence.

At constant exchange rates relative to 31 December 2020, and
taking into account short-term investments held at that date, a
50-basis-point decrease in floating rates would reduce annual
financial income by �0.2 million.

Bank counterparty risk12.5.2.

All foreign currency and interest rate hedges are put in place with
leading banks belonging to the Group’s banking syndicate, with
which market transaction agreements have been signed.

The majority of the Group’s financial investments relate to the
subsidiaries in India and the Sopra Steria Group parent company.
Financial investments are carried out either via short-term bank
deposits with banks mainly belonging to the banking syndicate, or
via money-market instruments managed by leading financial
institutions, which are themselves subsidiaries of banks mainly
belonging to the syndicate. These investments are subject to
approval by the Group, and comply with internally defined
principles of prudence.

Thanks to these various measures, the Group considers that it has
implemented a system that significantly reduces its bank
counterparty risk in the current economic context. However, the
Group remains subject to a residual risk which may affect its
performance under certain conditions.

Interest rate risk12.5.3.

The Group’s aim is to protect itself against interest rate fluctuations
by hedging part of its floating-rate debt and investing its cash over
periods of less than three months.

The derivatives used to hedge the debt are interest rate swap
contracts or options, which may or may not be eligible for hedge
accounting.

The eligible counterparties for interest rate hedging and investments
are leading financial institutions which belong to the Sopra Steria
banking syndicate. These financial instruments are managed by the
Group’s Finance Department.

All of the Group’s interest rate hedges have been put in place
through the parent company (Sopra Steria Group).
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Following the arrangement in July 2019 of a �250 million Euro PP fixed-rate bond issue with maturities of 7 and 8 years, the Group
restructured its portfolio of interest rate hedges to secure lower rates over longer maturities, as detailed below:

(in millions of euros)

Fair value

Notional
amount*

Maturity31/12/2020

Non-
current

assets
Current

assets

Non-
current

liabilities
Current

liabilities < 1 year
1 to

5 years > 5 years

Swap (cash flow hedge) in euros - - - - - - - -
Swap (cash flow hedge) in foreign 
currency - - - - - - - -
Options eligible for hedge 
accounting in euros 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.5 275.0 125.0 150.0 -
Options eligible for hedge 
accounting in foreign currency - - - - - - - -
Swaps not eligible for hedge 
accounting in euros - - - - - - - -
Options not eligible for hedge 
accounting in euros - - 0.1 - 50.0 50.0 - -

TOTAL INTEREST RATE HEDGES 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.5 325.0 175.0 150.0 -

Excluding the notional amount of the swaption(*)

The remeasurement of these financial instruments in equity is recognised in Other comprehensive income.

The remeasurement of these financial instruments in profit or loss is recognised in Other financial income and expenses.

The profit or loss and equity impacts of the Group’s interest rate hedging instruments are as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Balance sheet amounts Changes in fair value

31/12/2019

Changes
in fair
value

Changes
in scope

Other
changes 31/12/2020

Equity
impact

Profit or loss impact

Trading

Ineffective
portion of cash

flow hedges
Fair value

hedges

Swap (cash flow hedge) in 
euros - - - - - - - - -
Swap (cash flow hedge) in 
foreign currency - - - - - - - - -
Options eligible for hedge 
accounting in euros -1.0 0.3 - - -0.7 0.2 0.0 -0.0 -
Options eligible for hedge 
accounting in foreign 
currency - - - - - - - - -
Swaps not eligible 
for hedge accounting in 
euros - - - - - - - - -
Options not eligible for 
hedge accounting -0.2 0.1 - - -0.1 - - - 0.1

TOTAL PRE-TAX IMPACT -1.2 0.4 - - -0.8 0.2 0.0 -0.0 0.1
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The sensitivity of the interest rate derivatives portfolio to a plus or minus 50-basis-point change in the euro yield curves at 31 December
2020 is as follows:

(in millions of euros)

-50 BPS +50 BPS

Equity impact

P&L impact
(hedge

ineffective-ness)

Equity
impact

P&L impact
(hedge

ineffective-ness)

Swaps (cash flow hedge) in euros - - - -
Swaps (cash flow hedge) in foreign currency - - - -
Swaps not eligible for hedge accounting - - - -
Options eligible for hedge accounting in euros -0.2 -0.0 0.7 0.0
Options eligible for hedge accounting in foreign currency - - - -
Options not eligible for hedge accounting - -0.0 - 0.0

TOTAL -0.2 0.0 0.7 0.0

Total impact -0.2 0.7

The total amount of gross borrowings subject to interest rate risk was �311.2 million. Interest rate hedges in force at 31 December 2020
reduced this exposure to �36.2 million.

The Group’s residual exposure to interest rate risk is as follows:

(in millions of euros) Rate 31/12/2020

Less
than

1 year
1 to

2 years
2 to

3 years
3 to

4 years
4 to

5 years

More
than

5 years

Short-term investment securities
Fixed rate - - - - - - -

Floating rate 41.2 41.2 - - - - -
Floating rate 204.3 204.3 - - - - -

Financial assets

Fixed rate - - - - - - -
Floating rate 245.5 245.5 - - - - -

Total financial assets 245.5 245.5 - - - - -
Bonds Fixed rate -251.7 -2.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 -249.9
Bank borrowings Floating rate -136.7 -10.7 -10.7 -115.2 - - -
Bank borrowings Fixed rate -60.3 -0.3 - - -60.0 - -
NEU CP (commercial paper) & MTN Floating rate -174.0 -79.0 -70.0 -25.0 - - -

Fixed rate -35.0 - -35.0 - - -

Other financial debt
Fixed rate -12.9 -12.9 - - - - -

Floating rate - - - - - - -
Fixed rate - - - - - - -

Floating rate -0.6 -0.6 - - - - -

Financial liabilities
(gross exposure before hedging)

Fixed rate -359.9 -15.4 0.1 -34.9 -59.9 0.1 -249.9
Floating rate -311.2 -90.3 -80.7 -140.2 - - -

Total financial
liabilities -671.2 -105.7 -80.7 -175.1 -59.9 0.1 -249.9

NET EXPOSURE BEFORE 
HEDGING

FIXED RATE -359.9 -15.4 0.1 -34.9 -59.9 0.1 -249.9

FLOATING RATE -65.7 155.2 -80.7 -140.2 - - -

Interest rate hedging 
instruments

Fixed-rate payer swaps
in euros - - - - - - -

Fixed-rate payer swaps
in foreign currency - - - - - - -

Fixed-rate payer
options 275.0 125.0 - 75.0 75.0 - -

GROSS EXPOSURE AFTER 
HEDGING

FIXED RATE -634.9 -140.4 0.1 -109.9 -134.9 0.1 -

FLOATING RATE -36.2 34.7 -80.7 -65.2 75.0 - -

NET EXPOSURE AFTER HEDGING

FIXED RATE -634.9 -140.4 0.1 -109.9 -134.9 0.1 -

FLOATING RATE 209.3 280.2 -80.7 -65.2 75.0 - -



5
2020 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Notes to the consolidated financial statements

SOPRA STERIA UNIVERSAL REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 2020210

The fair value of interest rate hedging derivatives is measured using
the following assumptions:

Level 1: Quoted data: 0%;p

Level 2: Observable data: 100%;p

Level 3: Internal models: 0%.p

Foreign currency risk12.5.4.

The Group is subject to three main types of risks linked to
fluctuations in exchange rates:

translation risk in the various financial statements making up thep

Group’s consolidated financial statements for business conducted
in countries with a functional currency other than the euro;

transaction risk linked to purchases and sales of services, wherep

the transaction currency is different from that of the country in
which the service is recognised;

financial foreign currency risk arising from the Group’sp

foreign-currency borrowings (risk arising from changes in the
value of the financial debt denominated in pounds sterling).

As part of its general risk management policy, the Group
systematically hedges against foreign currency transaction risks that
constitute material risks for the Group as a whole.

exposures, hedges the residual exposure through the use of
derivatives.

Centralised management of foreign currency transaction risk is in
place with the Group’s main entities (apart from India).
Sopra Steria Group acts as the centralising entity, granting
exchange rate guarantees to subsidiaries and, after netting internal

Foreign currency risk hedging mainly relates to transaction
exposures involving the Group’s production platforms in India,
Poland and Tunisia, and certain commercial contracts denominated
in US dollars and in Norwegian kroner. These hedges cover both
invoiced items and future cash flows: changes in fair value
corresponding to these hedges are taken to profit or loss for
invoiced items and to equity for future cash flows.

The remeasurement through profit or loss of these financial
instruments hedging balance sheet items is offset by the revaluation
of foreign currency receivables over the period.

The Group’s Finance Department provides hedging via futures or
options entered into either on organised markets or over the
counter with top-tier counterparties that are members of the
banking syndicate.

The Group’s policy is not to conduct speculative transactions on
financial markets.

Finally, the structure of the Group’s borrowing, part of which is
denominated in sterling, provides a natural (if only partial) hedge
against currency translation risk on net assets, recognised directly in
the balance sheet. Similarly, in connection with the Kentor
acquisition in Sweden, the Group entered into a hedging
arrangement for the Swedish krona to cover its financing
requirements for this entity.

The balance sheet value of the Group’s foreign currency hedging instruments, and applicable notional amounts hedged, are as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Fair value

Notional
amount

Maturity31/12/2020

Non-
current

assets
Current

assets

Non-
current

liabilities
Current

liabilities

Fair value hedges

Foreign currency forwards - 0.8 - 2.1 74.5 74.5 - -
Foreign currency options - - - - - - - -

Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency forwards 0.1 0.4 1.9 0.9 131.2 44.2 87.0 -
Foreign currency options - 0.0 0.1 0.2 17.3 12.3 5.0 -

Instruments not designated 
for hedging* - 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.1 6.4 1.8 -

TOTAL FOREIGN CURRENCY 
HEDGES 0.1 1.2 2.0 3.3 231.1 137.3 93.7 -

The Group hedges the foreign exchange transaction risk but chooses in certain cases not to apply hedge accounting.*

The remeasurement of these financial instruments in profit or loss is recognised in Other current operating income and expenses, with the
exception of the time value and the impact of financial instruments not eligible for hedge accounting, which are recognised in Other financial
income and expenses.
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The profit or loss and equity impacts of the Group’s foreign currency hedging instruments are as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Balance sheet amounts Changes in fair value

31/12/2019

Changes
in fair
value

Changes
in scope

Other
changes 31/12/2020

Equity
impact

Profit or loss impact

Ineffective
portion of
cash flow

hedges

Fair
value

hedges Trading

Fair value hedges

Foreign currency 
forwards 4.4 -5.8 - - -1.3 - - -5.8 -
Foreign currency 
options 0.2 -0.2 - - -0.0 - - -0.2 -

Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency 
forwards 1.1 -3.4 - - -2.3 -3.4 - - -
Foreign currency 
options 0.1 -0.9 - 1.0 0.3 -0.5 - -0.3 -

Instruments not 
designated 
for hedging 0.0 0.5 - -0.6 -0.1 - - - 0.5

TOTAL PRE-TAX 
IMPACT 5.9 -9.7 - 0.4 -3.4 -3.9 - -6.3 0.5

Exposure to foreign exchange risk is as follows:

COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS❙

(in millions of euros) GBP NOK EUR INR TND USD SEK Other Total

Assets 30.8 0.0 50.8 0.0 1.0 4.8 0.0 3.5 90.9
Liabilities 1.1 0.0 14.9 0.0 7.4 5.1 0.0 14.6 43.1
Foreign currency commitments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net position before hedging 29.7 0.0 35.9 0.0 -6.4 -0.3 0.0 -11.2 47.8
Hedging instruments 67.7 15.3 64.5 0.0 -11.7 -3.3 0.0 -53.6 78.9

NET POSITION AFTER HEDGING -38.0 -15.3 -28.6 0.0 5.3 3.0 0.0 42.4 -31.1
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FINANCING INCLUDING CURRENT ACCOUNT❙

(in millions of euros) GBP NOK EUR INR TND USD SEK Other Total

Assets 187.8 61.2 0.0 41.5 0.2 0.2 0.2 30.4 321.6
Liabilities -0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.0 21.4 6.2 36.6
Foreign currency commitments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net position before hedging 187.9 61.2 0.0 41.5 0.2 -8.8 -21.2 24.2 284.9
Hedging instruments* 284.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -19.1 0.0 265.4

NET POSITION AFTER HEDGING -96.6 61.2 0.0 41.5 0.2 -8.8 -2.2 24.2 19.6

Net investment hedge in foreign currency.*

TOTAL (MARKET POSITIONS+FINANCING)❙

(in millions of euros) GBP NOK EUR INR TND USD SEK Other Total

Assets 218.6 61.2 50.8 41.5 1.2 5.0 0.2 33.9 412.4
Liabilities 1.1 0.0 14.9 0.0 7.4 14.1 21.4 20.8 79.7
Foreign currency commitments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net position before hedging 217.6 61.2 35.9 41.5 -6.2 -9.1 -21.2 13.0 332.7
Hedging instruments 352.1 15.3 64.5 0.0 -11.7 -3.3 -19.1 -53.6 344.2

NET POSITION AFTER HEDGING -134.6 45.9 -28.6 41.5 5.5 -5.9 -2.2 66.6 -11.5

SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS❙

(in millions of euros) GBP NOK EUR INR TND USD SEK Other Total

Currency change assumption (appreciation) 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5%

NET PROFIT IMPACT 0.2 -0.0 0.5 - -0.3 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.9

EQUITY IMPACT -6.9 2.3 -1.9 2.1 0.6 -0.4 -0.1 2.9 -1.5

Equity risk12.5.5.

The Group does not hold any investments in equities or any
significant equity interests in listed companies other than Axway
Software shares accounted for under the equity method (see
Note 10) and the shares in CS Communication & Systèmes (see
Note 7.1.1).

At 31 December 2020, the value of treasury shares was
�41.1 million.

Given the limited number of treasury shares it holds (1.51% of the
share capital), the Group is not materially exposed to equity risk.
Furthermore, since the value of treasury shares is deducted from
equity, changes in the share price have no impact on the
consolidated income statement.
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CASH FLOWSNOTE 13

Change in net financial debt13.1.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2019

Proceeds
from/(Payments
on) borrowings

Changes
in scope

Translation
adjustments

Other
movements 31/12/2020

Bonds excluding accrued interest 250.0 -5.0 5.0 - - 250.0
Bank borrowings excluding accrued 
interest 225.6 -33.2 9.5 -2.8 -0.4 198.8
Other sundry financial debt 
excluding current accounts and 
accrued interest 231.4 -15.5 7.0 -1.5 0.4 221.8

Financial debt in the cash flow 
statement 707.0 -53.7 21.5 -4.3 - 670.6
Current accounts -0.0 0.1 0.0 -0.1 -0.0 -0.0
Accrued interest on financial debt -0.5 0.7 -0.2 - - 0.0

Financial debt excluding 
current bank overdrafts 706.5 -52.9 21.4 -4.4 -0.0 670.6
Current bank overdrafts -4.9 14.8 -0.1 -10.4 - -0.6
Short-term investment securities 23.5 19.2 0.2 -3.5 - 39.4
Cash and cash equivalents 174.0 -4.1 27.1 9.1 0.0 206.1

Net cash in the cash flow 
statement 192.6 30.0 27.2 -4.8 0.0 245.0

NET FINANCIAL DEBT 513.9 -82.9 -5.8 0.4 -0.0 425.6

Change in net financial debt -88.3

The breakdown provided in the Change in net financial debt table
explains the purposes of the new borrowings and repayments of
existing borrowings recognised in the cash flow statement.

in that this caption includes the cash impact of Other financial
income and expenses (see Note 12.1.2).

The change in net financial debt is broken down into indicators. Net
cash from operating activities is based on Operating profit on
business activity, after deducting the depreciation, amortisation and
the provisions it includes, which gives EBITDA, and other non-cash
items adjusted for tax paid, restructuring and integration costs, and
the change in the working capital requirement. It differs from Net
cash from operating activities as shown in the consolidated cash
flow statement presented in the financial statements on page 162,

Free cash flow is defined as net cash from operating activities
adjusted for the impact of purchases (net of disposals) of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets during the period; lease
payments; all financial income and expenses payable or receivable
(except those related to lease liabilities); and additional
contributions paid to cover any deficits in certain defined-benefit
pension plans.

Adjusted for net cash generated by financing activities and the
impact of exchange rate fluctuations on net debt, this explains the
change in net financial debt.
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(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Operating profit on business activity 300.2 354.3
Depreciation, amortisation and provisions (excluding allocated intangible assets) 187.4 159.3

EBITDA 487.6 513.6
Non-cash items 7.3 -3.9
Tax paid -82.9 -81.0
Impairment of current assets -0.6 0.9
Change in current operating WCR 72.5 25.3
Non-recurring costs, including reorganisation and restructuring costs -82.2 -32.7

Net cash flow from operating activities 401.7 422.2
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -53.6 -49.8
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.4 0.1

Net change from investing activities involving property, plant and equipment 
and intangible assets -53.2 -49.7
Lease payments -109.4 -109.8
Net interest (excluding interest on lease liabilities) -10.0 -9.3
Additional contributions related to defined-benefit pension plans -25.5 -24.1

Free cash flow 203.5 229.3
Impact of changes in scope -97.5 -89.5
Impact of payments relating to non-current financial assets -3.5 -7.4
Impact of receipts relating to non-current financial assets 1.5 4.7
Dividends paid -4.3 -39.9
Dividends received 0.0 2.9
Capital increases -0.0 -0.0
Purchase and sale of treasury shares -10.9 -2.8
Other cash flows relating to investing activities - -

Net cash flow 88.8 97.4
Impact of changes in foreign exchange rates -0.4 -7.3
Impact of changes in accounting policies (IFRS 16) - 16.9

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL DEBT 88.4 107.0

Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of period 192.6 159.8
Non-current financial debt – Beginning of period -494.4 -338.3
Current financial debt – Beginning of period -212.2 -442.4

Net financial debt – Beginning of period -513.9 -620.9
Cash and cash equivalents – End of period 245.0 192.6
Non-current financial debt – End of period -564.5 -494.4
Current financial debt – End of period -106.1 -212.2

Net financial debt – End of period -425.6 -513.9

CHANGE IN NET FINANCIAL DEBT 88.3 107.0

Free cash flow came to �203.5 million (�229.3 million in 2019). It requirement, despite an increase in outflows on non-recurring costs
reflected a slight improvement in the cash conversion rate with (including the restructuring costs of business reorganisations)
respect to operating profit on business activity compared with the affected by the consequences of the Covid-19 pandemic crisis and
previous financial year. This performance mainly resulted from a the impact of the cyberattack on the Group on 21 October (see
substantial improvement in the management of the working capital Note 4.2.3).
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Outflows related to acquisitions of companies, recognised within Impact of changes in scope, were stable, totalling �97.5 million. Those
that took place in 2020 are described in Note 2.1 and break down as follows:

(in millions of euros)

Financial year
2020

Financial year
2019

Cost of acquisitions paid (excluding earn-outs) -103.4 -95.8
Net debt/(Net cash) of acquired companies 5.9 -0.6
Earn-outs - -1.9
Disposal price for shares sold in consolidated equity investments - 4.4
Cash transferred out/Deconsolidated entities -0.0 4.3

TOTAL -97.5 -89.5

In 2020, they mainly included the acquisitions of Sodifrance and
Fidor Solutions, and the exercise of the put option for SAB shares.

Sopra Steria Recruitment Ltd had a positive impact of
�8.7 million.

In 2019, they included the acquisitions of SAB, Sopra Financial
Technology GmbH and NeoSpheres, as well as earn-outs on prior
acquisitions, Apak and O.R. System. Conversely, the disposal of

As a result of these effects, net financial debt at 31 December 2020
decreased to �425.6 million, compared with �513.9 million at
31 December 2019.

Reconciliation of WCR with the cash flow statement13.2.
The impact of the components of the operating working capital requirement shown on the balance sheet on cash generation can be broken
down as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019
Net

change

Of
which:
Items

not
included

in WCR

Of
which:

WCR
items

Change in WCR
items without cash

impact Impact
on cash

flow
statement

Foreign
exchange Other

Other non-current financial assets 36.7 25.2 11.5 -1.9 13.3 -0.3 18.0 4.3
Other loans and receivablesp 36.4 23.0 13.3 - 13.3 -0.3 18.0 4.3
Other non-current financial p

assets 0.3 2.2 -1.9 -1.9 - - - -

Non-current assets 36.7 25.2 11.5 -1.9 13.3 -0.3 18.0 4.3
Trade receivables and related 
accounts 954.6 1,074.3 -119.7 - -119.7 -12.2 -3.0 104.6

Trade receivablesp 607.6 737.7 -130.1 - -130.1 -6.4 11.4 135.1
Accrued incomep 346.9 336.6 10.4 - 10.4 -5.8 -14.3 -30.5

Other current receivables 410.6 348.3 62.2 -28.7 90.9 -3.7 12.2 -82.4

Current assets 1,365.1 1,422.6 -57.5 -28.7 -28.8 -15.9 9.2 22.1

TOTAL ASSETS 1,401.8 1,447.8 -46.0 -30.6 -15.4 -16.2 27.2 26.4

Retirement benefits and similar 
obligations – Liabilities -10.2 -10.2 0.0 - 0.0 0.6 -1.5 -0.9

Other long-term employee p

benefits -10.2 -10.2 0.0 - 0.0 0.6 -1.5 -0.9
Other non-current liabilities -104.1 -112.2 8.1 -1.4 9.4 4.9 4.5 -0.0

Non-current liabilities -114.3 -122.4 8.1 -1.4 9.4 5.5 3.1 -0.9
Trade payables -278.6 -286.3 7.7 1.7 6.0 -2.3 2.9 -5.4
Advances and payments on 
account received for orders -22.3 -5.5 -16.8 - -16.8 0.1 -0.0 16.9
Deferred income on client projects -328.2 -296.6 -31.6 - -31.6 4.8 0.3 36.6
Other current liabilities -816.6 -918.8 102.2 22.7 79.5 7.7 41.2 -30.6

Current liabilities -1,445.7 -1,507.2 61.5 24.4 37.1 10.2 44.4 17.5

TOTAL LIABILITIES -1,560.0 -1,629.6 69.6 23.0 46.5 15.7 47.4 16.6

TOTAL WCR -158.2 -181.8 23.6 -7.5 31.1 -0.5 74.6 43.0
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Other cash flows in the consolidated cash flow statement13.3.
Beyond the changes presented in the Change in net financial debt Payments on borrowings mainly concerned payments on the
table, the consolidated cash flow statement presented on page medium-term loan and the NEU CP programme (see Note 12.3).
162 was affected by movements related to financing activities.

EQUITY AND EARNINGS PER SHARENOTE 14

Equity14.1.
The consolidated statement of changes in equity is presented on
page 161.

Changes in share capital14.1.1.

At 31 December 2020, Sopra Steria Group had a share capital of
�20,547,701, the same as at 31 December 2019. It is represented
by 20,547,701 fully paid-up shares with a par value of �1 each.

Transactions in treasury shares14.1.2.

At 31 December 2020, the value of treasury shares recognised as a
deduction from consolidated equity was �36.2 million, consisting
of 310,525 shares, including 263,713 shares held by UK trusts
falling within the consolidation scope and 46,812 shares acquired
by Sopra Steria Group, 5,400 of which were acquired under the
liquidity agreement and the rest of which were acquired to make
any potential share-based payments. This value also includes
�3.5 million relating to the Group’s commitment to acquire shares
on the market for its free performance share plans (see Note 5.4.1).

All of the Sopra Steria Group shares held by the parent company
or any of its subsidiaries are recognised at their acquisition cost,
deducted from consolidated equity.

Dividends14.1.3.

On 9 April 2020, the Board of Directors decided to submit a
resolution at the General Meeting of 9 June 2020 proposing not to
pay a dividend in respect of financial year 2019. This resolution
passed at the General Meeting.

The dividend paid in financial year 2019 in respect of financial year
2018 was �38.0 million, equating to �1.85 per share.

Accumulated translation reserves14.1.4.

In line with the principles described in Note 1.4.2.b, accumulated
translation reserves include the gains or losses arising on translation
from the functional currencies of the Group’s entities to the
presentation currency as well as the currency hedging effects of net
investments in foreign operations. Movements are recorded in
Other comprehensive income. Accumulated translation reserves also
reflect the translation effects of gains or losses on disposals of
foreign operations.

At 31 December 2020, accumulated translation reserves by currency were as follows:

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Swiss franc 8.0 7.9
Pound sterling -80.7 -49.6
Indian rupee -0.4 2.6
Norwegian krone -23.6 -18.0
Polish zloty -0.6 -0.2
Singapore dollar 0.1 0.5
Tunisian dinar -1.9 -1.7
US dollar 0.4 -0.0
Other currencies -10.2 1.3

ACCUMULATED TRANSLATION RESERVES (ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP) -108.9 -57.2

The Other currencies category mainly includes the accumulated
translation reserves of associates, and chiefly Axway Software, in the
amount of �1.7 million (�8.3 million at 31 December 2019).

Non-controlling interests14.1.5.

The contributions to the income statement and balance sheet of
entities in which there are non-controlling interests mainly come
from joint ventures formed with the UK authorities in the United
Kingdom: NHS SBS, 50%-owned by the UK Department of Health,
and SSCL, 25%-owned by the Cabinet Office. The Group has 50%
and 75% control, respectively. They also relate to the companies in
the Galitt group acquired in 2017, as well as Sopra Financial
Technology GmbH, acquired in 2019.

The Group has granted the Cabinet Office a put option to sell the
shares it holds in SSCL.

In the same vein, the Group has entered into an irrevocable
commitment to acquire the remaining shares in Galitt, in the form
of a put option granted to the other shareholders.

Due to the accounting treatment of the put option granted in
respect of SSCL and Galitt shares, the amount of non-controlling
interests on the balance sheet mainly relates to the UK Department
of Health’s share in the net assets of NHS SBS (�29.8 million), and
the share of the German banking network Sparda’s cooperative
banks in Sopra Financial Technology GmbH (�17.8 million).
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In the income statement, amounts attributable to non-controlling interests mainly comprised �5.7 million for SSCL, �2.9 million for NHS
SBS and �3.5 million for Sopra Financial Technology GmbH.

Summary financial information for SSCL, NHS SBS, Galitt and Sopra Financial Technology GmbH is as follows:

(in millions of euros)

31/12/2020

SSCL NHS SBS Galitt SFT

Non-current assets 13.7 30.1 41.5 112.6
Current assets 161.2 70.6 9.2 18.2
Non-current liabilities 3.0 22.3 5.8 51.8
Current liabilities 65.8 18.8 -11.9 34.2
Revenue 246.3 93.0 33.1 204.9

NET PROFIT 22.8 5.9 0.7 7.0

Non-controlling interests arise where a portion of equity
ownership in a subsidiary is not attributable directly or indirectly to
the parent company.

When non-controlling interests have an option to sell their
investment to the Group, a financial liability is recorded in Other
non-current liabilities (see Note 7.4) for the present value of the
option’s estimated exercise price. The offset of the financial liability
generated by these commitments is deducted from:

the corresponding amount of non-controlling interests initially;
and

the Group’s share of consolidated reserves for the remainder.

Subsequent changes in this put option arising from changes in
estimates or relating to the unwinding of discount are offset
against the corresponding non-controlling interests and the
remainder is deducted from the Group’s share of consolidated
reserves.

Capital management objectives, policy 14.1.6.
and procedures

The Company’s capital is solely composed of the items disclosed in
the balance sheet. There are no financial liabilities considered to be
components of capital and, conversely, there are no equity
components not considered to be part of the Company’s capital.

The Company is not subject to any external constraints on
its capital.

Treasury shares are detailed in Note 14.1.2.

The only potentially dilutive instruments are the free shares granted
under Sopra Steria’s free performance share plans (see Note 5.4.1).

Earnings per share14.2.

 
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

Net profit attributable to the Group (in millions of euros) (a) 106.8 160.3
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding (b) 20,547,701 20,547,701
Weighted average number of treasury shares (c) 294,209 313,075
Weighted average number of shares outstanding excluding treasury shares (d) = (b) - (c) 20,253,492 20,234,626

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN EUROS) (A/D) 5.27 7.92

 
Financial year

2020
Financial year

2019

Net profit attributable to the Group (in millions of euros) (a) 106.8 160.3
Weighted average number of shares outstanding excluding treasury shares (d) 20,253,492 20,234,626
Dilutive effect of instruments that give rise to potential ordinary shares (e) 68,951 116,462
Theoretical weighted average number of equity instruments (f) = (d)+(e) 20,322,443 20,351,088

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN EUROS) (A/F) 5.25 7.88

The method used to calculate earnings per share is set out below.

Treasury shares are detailed in Note 14.1.2.

Potentially dilutive instruments are presented in Note 5.4.
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Earnings per share as stated in the income statement are
calculated on the basis of the Group’s share in the net profit as
follows:

corresponding new Group companies were consolidated for the
first time;

basic earnings per share are based on the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the financial year, calculated
according to the dates when the funds arising from cash share
issues were received and, in respect of shares issued for
contributions in kind via equity, the date on which the

diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting thep

Group’s share of net profit and the weighted average number
of shares outstanding for the dilutive effect of share
subscription option plans in force at the financial year-end and
free share plans. The treasury stock method is applied on the
basis of the average share price for the year.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONSNOTE 15

Transactions with equity-accounted associates and non-consolidated 15.1.
entities

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Transactions between Sopra Steria Group and the Axway Software group
Sales of goods and services 0.1 0.4
Purchases of goods and services -3.2 -1.5
Operating receivables - 0.2
Operating payables -1.0 -0.8
Financial income - -
Financial receivables (current account) - -
Transactions between Sopra Steria Group subsidiaries and the Axway Software group
Sales of goods and services 7.6 6.1
Purchases of goods and services -4.3 -3.8
Operating receivables 1.5 0.9
Operating payables -2.3 -0.7
Financial income - -
Financial receivables (current account) - -
Transactions between Sopra Steria Group and holding company Sopra GMT
Sales of goods and services 0.2 0.4
Purchases of goods and services -1.2 -1.6
Operating receivables 0.1 0.1
Operating payables -0.4 -0.1
Financial income - -
Financial receivables (current account) - -

Subsidiaries and equity interests15.2.
Transactions and balances between Sopra Steria Group and its subsidiaries were eliminated in full on consolidation, since all of the
subsidiaries are fully consolidated.

Non-consolidated equity investments are all recognised within Non-consolidated securities (see Note 7.1.1).
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTSNOTE 16

Commitments given related to current operations16.1.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Bank guarantees for project completion 18.6 26.6
Other guarantees 8.1 11.5

TOTAL 26.7 38.1

Under the IT service contracts it enters into with its clients, the
Group may, if formally requested by its clients, provide bank
guarantees in respect of the performance of obligations undertaken
in these contracts. The amount of these guarantees was
�18.6 million at 31 December 2020 (�26.6 million at
31 December 2019). To date, no use has ever been made of any
such guarantee.

In addition, the Group is exposed under its leases to future cash
outflows, which were not taken into account in the measurement of
its lease liabilities. These arise from property leases, under which the
Group will have the right to control their use after 31 December
2020. These amounted to �90.4 million at 31 December 2020. No
such exposure existed at 31 December 2019.

Commitments received16.2.

(in millions of euros) 31/12/2020 31/12/2019

Unused credit lines 950.0 950.0
Unused current bank overdrafts 161.0 157.1
Other commitments received 4.5 4.5

TOTAL 1,115.4 1,111.6

As part of a cash pooling arrangement set up in 2012 between the entities of the Group and BMG (Bank Mendes Gans), Sopra Steria Group
acts as guarantor for the amounts borrowed by its subsidiaries.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTSNOTE 17

No subsequent events occurred after the end of financial year 2020.
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LIST OF GROUP COMPANIESNOTE 18

Company Country % control % held
Consolidation

method

France

Sopra Steria Group France - - Parent company
Sopra Steria Infrastructure & Security Services France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Services France 100.00% 100.00% FC
XYZ 12 2016 France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Beamap SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
CIMPA SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
CIMPA GmbH Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
CIMPA Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
CIMPA PLM España SL Spain 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Polska Poland 100.00% 100.00% FC
Steria Medshore SAS Morocco 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Group – Morocco branch Morocco 100.00% 100.00% FC
2MoRO SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
2MoRO Inc. Canada 37.00% 37.00% N/A
Tecfit France 88.13% 88.13% FC
Galitt France 99.07% 87.31% FC
Sodifrance SA France 100.00% 100.00% FC
HP2M SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Strateg’e.Boss SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sodifrance-Isis SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Soft-Maint SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Anteo Consulting SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Anteo e-Business Solutions SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Mia Software SAS France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Apprentissage Professionnel Informatique France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Soft-Maint Tunisie Tunisia 100.00% 100.00% FC

United Kingdom

Sopra Group Holding Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Group Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Holdings Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Services Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Caboodle Solutions Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
ASL Information Services Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Druid Group Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
OSI Group Holdings Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
FI Group Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
OSI Group Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Steria BSP Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
NHS Shared Employee Services Limited United Kingdom 100.00% 75.50% FC
NHS Shared Business Services Ltd United Kingdom 50.00% 50.00% FC
Steria UK Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Steria UK Corporate Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Shared Services Connected Ltd (SSCL) United Kingdom 75.00% 75.00% FC
First Banking Systems United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Firth Solutions Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
FI Academy Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
FI Kernel Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
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Company Country % control % held
Consolidation

method

Steria Employee Trustee Company Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Steria Employee Trustee Company Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Xansa 2004 Employee Benefit Trust United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Zansa Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
CX Partners United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Xansa Cyprus (No. 1) Ltd Cyprus 100.00% 100.00% FC
Xansa Cyprus (No. 2) Ltd Cyprus 100.00% 100.00% FC
Xansa India Sez DP Ltd India 100.00% 100.00% FC
Steria India Ltd India 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Asia Pte Ltd Singapore 100.00% 100.00% FC
Steria Malaysia Malaysia 100.00% 100.00% N/A
Steria Hong Kong Hong Kong 100.00% 100.00% N/A
Sopra Steria China China 100.00% 100.00% FC
Xansa Inc. Canada 100.00% 100.00% FC

Other Europe

Sopra Steria SE Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
ISS Software GmbH Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Services GmbH Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Financial Technology GmbH Germany 51.00% 51.00% FC
it-economics GmbH Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
it-economics Bulgaria EOOD Bulgaria 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria GmbH Austria 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Benelux Belgium 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Benelux – Luxembourg branch Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Benelux – Netherlands branch Netherlands 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria PSF Luxembourg Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria AG Switzerland 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Group SpA Italy 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria España SAU Spain 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Euskadi SL Spain 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Group Catalunya SA Spain 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria A/S Denmark 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria AS Norway 100.00% 100.00% FC
The Solid Group Norway 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria AB Sweden 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Steria Sweden AB Sweden 100.00% 100.00% FC
Kentor Holding AB Sweden 100.00% 100.00% FC
Kentor OOO Russia 100.00% 100.00% FC

Sopra Banking Software

Sopra Banking Software France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Cassiopae SAS – South Korea branch South Korea 100.00% 100.00% N/A
O.R. System do Brasil Brazil 100.00% 100.00% N/A
O.R. System Polska Poland 100.00% 100.00% N/A
Sopra Financial Solutions Iberia SL Spain 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
SBS 123 Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Field Solutions Investment Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Cassiopae Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Apak Group Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Apak Group Inc. United States 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software Belgium Belgium 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software – Iceland branch Iceland 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software Luxembourg Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00% FC
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Company Country % control % held
Consolidation

method

Sopra Banking Software Netherlands BV Netherlands 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software GmbH Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
Cassiopae Solutions Private Ltd India 99.90% 99.90% FC
Sopra Banking Software Singapore Pte Ltd Singapore 100.00% 100.00% FC
Beijing Sopra Science and Technology Ltd China 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software Morocco Morocco 100.00% 100.00% FC
Cassiopae MEA Tunisia 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Software Cameroun Cameroon 95.00% 95.00% FC
Cassiopae US Inc. United States 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software Brasil Ltda Brazil 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Gabon Gabon 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Côte d’Ivoire Côte d’Ivoire 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra Banking Software Sénégal Senegal 100.00% 100.00% FC
SAB France 100.00% 100.00% FC
SAMIC Monaco 99.60% 99.60% FC
SAB Med Lebanon 98.00% 98.00% FC
SAB Tunisie Tunisia 99.99% 99.99% FC
SAB Atlas Morocco 100.00% 100.00% FC
SAB Pacifique Polynesia 100.00% 100.00% FC
Fidor Solutions AG Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
Fidor FZCO United Arab Emirates 100.00% 100.00% FC
Fidor Solutions Apac Pte Ltd Singapore 100.00% 100.00% FC

Other solutions

Sopra HR Software France 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software Ltd United Kingdom 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software SPRL Belgium 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software Sarl Luxembourg 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software GmbH Germany 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software Sarl Switzerland 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software Srl Italy 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software SL Spain 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software Sarl Tunisia 100.00% 100.00% FC
Sopra HR Software Sarl Morocco 100.00% 100.00% FC
Holocare AS Norway 66.67% 66.67% EM
AXWAY France 32.38% 32.38% EM

FC: Fully consolidated
EM: Equity method
NC: Non-consolidated (non-consolidated companies are not considered significant)

The Group does not directly or indirectly control any special-purpose entities.
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STATUTORY AUDITORS’ FEESNOTE 19

(in millions of euros excl. VAT)

Mazars network Nexia network

2020 2019 2020 2019

Certification of the parent company and consolidated 
financial statements
Sopra Steria Group 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.3
Fully consolidated subsidiaries 1.6 1.3 0.7 0.6

Subtotal 2.1 1.9 1.0 0.9
Services other than the certification of the accounts*
Sopra Steria Group 0.1 0.3 0.0 0.0
Fully consolidated subsidiaries 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1

Subtotal 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.1

TOTAL STATUTORY AUDITORS’ FEES 2.3 2.2 1.1 1.0

These services mainly relate to services performed in connection with the acquisition of entities (“due diligence”).(*)
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Statutory Auditors’ report on the consolidated financial 
statements

To the General Meeting of Sopra Steria Group SA,

Opinion
In compliance with the engagement entrusted to us by the
shareholders at your General Meetings, we have audited the
accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sopra Steria
Group SA for the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

We certify that the consolidated financial statements are, with
respect to IFRS as adopted in the European Union, true and fair and
provide an accurate view of the results of your Company’s
operations for the financial year under review and of the financial
position and assets and liabilities, at the end of the financial year, of
the group formed by the persons and entities included in the scope
of consolidation.

The above opinion is consistent our report to the Audit Committee.

Basis of our opinion

AUDIT FRAMEWORK
We performed our assignment in accordance with the professional
standards applicable in France. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the section of this report entitled “Responsibilities of the Statutory
Auditors relating to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements”.

INDEPENDENCE
We performed our audit in accordance with independence rules
provided by the French Commercial Code and the French Code of
Ethics for Statutory Auditors for the period from 1 January 2020 to
the date our report was issued, and in particular we have not
provided any services prohibited by Article 5, paragraph 1 of
Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014.

JUSTIFICATION OF OUR ASSESSMENTS – KEY AUDIT 
MATTERS
The global crisis caused by the Covid-19 pandemic has created
exceptional conditions for the preparation and audit of the financial
statements for this financial year. The crisis and the resulting
emergency public health measures have had various consequences
for companies, particularly affecting their business activity and
financing and giving rise to greater uncertainty as to their future
outlook. Some of these measures, such as restrictions on movement
and remote working, have also had an impact on companies’
internal organisation and affected how audits are carried out.

Given this complex and changing context and in accordance with
the requirements of Articles L. 823-9 and R. 823-7 of the French
Commercial Code relating to the justification of our assessments,
we bring to your attention the key audit matters relating to the risks
of material misstatement which, according to our professional
judgment, were most significant for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the financial year, as well as our responses
to those risks.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our
opinion thereon. We do not provide a separate opinion on specific
items of the consolidated financial statements.

REVENUE RECOGNITION ON FIXED-PRICE CONTRACTS
(Note 4.1 to the consolidated financial statements)

Risk identified

Sopra Steria Group, one of Europe’s key players in digital
transformation, offers end-to-end, high-value-added services
comprising consulting and systems integration, development of
industry- and technology-specific solutions, IT infrastructure
management, cybersecurity and business process services (BPS).

The Group’s revenue to 31 December 2020 totalled �4.3 billion, a
significant portion of which related to fixed-price contracts.
Fixed-price contracts are characterised by commitments relating to
the price, the end result and the deadline.

As presented in Note 4.1 to the consolidated financial statements,
revenue from services performed under fixed-price contracts is
recognised over time (and not at a specific point in time) using the
percentage-of-completion method in the following two situations:

the services are performed in the customer’s environment orp

enhance a customer’s asset. The customer obtains control as the
asset is created or developed;

the contract provides for the development of highly specificp

assets in the Group’s environment (e.g. solutions) prior to
implementation in the customer’s infrastructure. The contract
also provides for settlement of the value of such services in the
event of termination for convenience (where the customer is
entitled to do so). The Group has no alternative use for the asset
created and has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Revenue and profit generated over time from these services is
recognised on the basis of a qualified estimate of the level of
completion, measured as the difference between the contract value
and the amount required to cover the total number of person-days
remaining to be performed.

We considered the recognition of revenue on fixed-price contracts
as a key audit matter due to its significance in the Group’s financial
statements and the level of judgment and estimation required by
management to determine the revenue and income on completion
from these contracts.
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Our response

We familiarised ourselves with the internal control procedures
implemented by the Group and tested the key controls relating to
determining income from fixed-price contracts.

For a sample of contracts deemed material due to their financial
impact and risk profile:

we reconciled contractual data, including any contractualp

changes resulting from additional requests and contractual
claims, with management and accounting data;

we talked to management and project managers in order top

assess the reasonable nature of the estimates made by
management and corroborate the estimated amount allocated to
cover the total number of person-days remaining to be
performed, particularly in comparison with prior estimates and by
reviewing correspondence with the client and assessing whether
this has been translated correctly into the accounts. In performing
this work we drew on experience acquired in previous financial
years relating to similar contracts;

for contracts subject to claims, we talked to the Group’s legalp

department and reviewed correspondence with the client in order
to assess the estimates made by management.

We also used substantive checks on a sample of trade receivables
and accrued income in order to assess management’s estimates
relating to the prospect of recovering these receivables.

VALUATION AND IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL
(Notes 2.1, 8.1.2 and 8.1.3 to the consolidated financial
statements)

Risk identified

As at 31 December 2020, the net value of goodwill in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements was �1,843.2 million, equal to
40.6% of total assets.

As set in out in Notes 2.1, 8.1.2 and 8.1.3 to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
(CGUs) for the purposes of impairment tests. The Group’s
segmentation into CGUs is consistent with the operating structure
of its businesses, its management and reporting system, and its
segment reporting. Impairment tests are performed whenever there
is an indication of impairment, and in any event at the balance
sheet date of 31 December. These tests consist in comparing the
CGU’s carrying amount with its recoverable amount, which
corresponds to the higher of (i) its fair value less costs of disposal
and (ii) its value in use. An impairment loss is recognised whenever
the recoverable amount of goodwill is lower than the carrying
amount the weighted average cost of capital. 

As presented in Note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Covid-19 crisis had an impact on the estimates that the Group
uses to value certain assets and liabilities. In particular, this is mainly
relevant and structuring for the assumptions and estimates used to
assess the recoverable amount of goodwill.

To determine the value in use of the CGU, management primarily
uses the discounted cash flow (DCF) method, which involves the use
of key assumptions relating to each asset category, including in
particular the perpetual growth rate and the discount rate based on
the weighted average cost of capital.

rate applied. We therefore considered the valuation of goodwill and
the implementation of impairment testing to be a key audit matter.

Determining the recoverable amount of goodwill, which represents
a particularly significant amount relative to total assets, is primarily
based on management’s judgment, in particular as regards the
perpetual growth rate used to forecast cash flows and the discount

Our response

Our work consisted primarily of:

reviewing the compliance of the methodology used by the Groupp

with applicable accounting standards;

assessing whether the allocation of assets to CGUs is exhaustivep

and complies with applicable accounting standards;

assessing the reasonable nature of assumptions used top

determine future cash flows in relation to operating data, with
regard to the business and financial context for the Group’s
operations, in particular the context of uncertainty caused by the
Covid-19 public health crisis, and their consistency with the most
recent estimates presented to the Board of Directors within the
framework of budgetary processes;

check the calculation of goodwill recorded over the period;p

assessing, with the help of our valuation experts, the consistencyp

of the perpetual growth rate and the weighted average unit cost
of capital in all components;

analysing the sensitivity of the value in use determined byp

management to a change in the main assumptions made,
particularly for the Sopra Banking Software CGU.

Lastly, we verified that Notes 2.1 and 8.1 to the consolidated
financial statements provided appropriate information.

VALUATION AND IMPAIRMENT OF EQUITY-ACCOUNTED 
INVESTMENTS
(Note 10.2 to the consolidated financial statements)

Risk identified

As at 31 December 2020, the net value of equity-accounted
investments in the Group’s consolidated financial statements was
�193.4 million, equal to 4.3% of total assets. These equity interests
correspond to the Group’s stake in Axway Software.

As explained in Note 10.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
impairment tests are performed whenever there is an indication of
impairment, and in any event at the balance sheet date of
31 December. These tests consist in comparing the carrying
amount of equity-accounted investments with their recoverable
amount, which corresponds to the higher of (i) their fair value less
costs of disposal and (ii) their value in use:

as Axway Software’s shares are listed, their fair value less costs ofp

disposal is equal to market price less costs to sell;

to determine the value in use of equity-accounted investments,p

management primarily uses the discounted cash flow (DCF)
method, which involves the use of key assumptions relating to
each asset category, including in particular the perpetual growth
rate and the discount rate based on the weighted average cost of
capital.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the recoverable amount
of equity-accounted investments is lower than their carrying
amount.

Determining the recoverable amount of equity-accounted
investments is primarily based on management’s judgment, in
particular as regards the perpetual growth rate used to forecast
cash flows and the discount rate applied. We therefore considered
the valuation of equity-accounted investments and the
implementation of impairment testing to be a key audit matter.
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Our response

Our work consisted primarily of:

reviewing the compliance of the methodology used by the Groupp

with applicable accounting standards;

assessing the reasonable nature of assumptions used top

determine future cash flows in relation to operating data, with
regard to the business and financial context for the Group’s
operations, and their consistency with the most recent estimates
presented to the Board of Directors within the framework of
budgetary processes;

assessing, with the help of our valuation experts, the consistencyp

of the perpetual growth rate and the weighted average unit cost
of capital in all components;

analysing the sensitivity of the value in use determined byp

management to a change in the main assumptions made.

Lastly, we verified that Note 10.2 to the consolidated financial
statements provided appropriate information.

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(Note 5.3.1 to the consolidated financial statements)

Risk identified

Post-employment benefits mainly concern the Group’s obligations
towards its employees to provide retirement bonuses in France and
defined-benefit pension plans in the United Kingdom, Germany and
other European countries (Belgium and Norway). The actuarial value
of accumulated benefits as at 31 December 2020 was
�390.4 million.

The net liability in respect of retirement benefits and similar
obligations was calculated at the balance sheet date based on the
most recent valuations available. Since these liabilities are covered
by plan assets with a fair value of 1,717.8 million, the net liability
at 31 December 2020 totalled �380.1 million. The most significant
plan assets concern the United Kingdom and France.

Valuing pension plan assets and liabilities, as well as the actuarial
cost for the financial year, requires a high level of judgment by
management to determine appropriate assumptions to be made,
such as the discount rate, inflation, future pay rises, staff turnover
and mortality tables.

The change in some of these assumptions may have a material
impact on determining the net liability recognised as well as on the
Group’s profit.

In view of the amounts represented by these obligations and
associated plan assets, as well as the technical skill required to
evaluate these amounts, we considered this type of
post-employment benefit obligations to be a key audit matter.

Our response

We familiarised ourselves with the process for valuing
post-employment benefit obligations implemented by the Group. A
review of actuarial assumptions was performed by:

assessing the discount rate and inflation in order to evaluate theirp

consistency with market conditions;

assessing the reasonable nature of assumptions relating to payp

rises, staff turnover and mortality in order to evaluate their
consistency with the specific characteristics of each plan and,
where applicable, with national and sector benchmarks;

reviewing calculations made by the Group’s external actuaries.p

As regards plan assets, we also assessed whether the assumptions
made by management to value these assets and the documentation
provided by management to justify the recognition of a net plan
asset were appropriate.

Lastly, we verified the appropriateness of the information provided
in Note 5.3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Specific verifications
We also performed the specific verifications in accordance with
professional standards applicable in France and required by law in
relation to the information on the Group contained in the
Management Report of the Board of Directors.

We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and its
consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

We certify that the consolidated statement of non-financial
performance in accordance with Article L. 225-102-1 of the French
Commercial Code is provided in the information relating to the
Group in the Management Report, it being understood that in
accordance with Article L. 823-10 of the French Commercial Code,
the information contained in this declaration has not been the
subject of our verifications of sincerity or of consistency with the
consolidated financial statements, and must be reported by an
independent third party.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

FORMAT OF PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS INTENDED TO BE INCLUDED IN 
THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
We have also verified, in accordance with the professional standard
applicable in France relating to the procedures performed by the
statutory auditor relating to the annual and consolidated financial
statements presented in the European single electronic format, that
the presentation of the consolidated financial statements intended
to be included15 in the annual financial report mentioned in Article
L. 451-1-2, I of the French Monetary and Financial Code (code
monétaire et financier), prepared under the responsibility of …16 ,
complies with the single electronic format defined in the European
Delegated Regulation No 2019/815 of 17 December 2018. As it
relates to consolidated financial statements, our work includes
verifying that the tagging of these consolidated financial statements
complies with the format defined in the above delegated regulation.
Based on the work we have performed, we conclude that the
presentation of the consolidated financial statements intended to
be included15 in the annual financial report complies, in all material
respects, with the European single electronic format.

We have no responsibility to verify that the consolidated financial
statements that will ultimately be included by your company in the
annual financial report filed with the AMF are in agreement with
those on which we have performed our work.
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APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
Mazars was appointed Statutory Auditor of Sopra Steria Group SA
by the shareholders at the General Meeting of 1 June 2000, and
Auditeurs et Conseil Associés – ACA Nexia by the shareholders at
the General Meeting of 30 June 1986.

As at 31 December 2020, Mazars was in its 21st consecutive year
as Statutory Auditor and Auditeurs et Conseil Associés – ACA Nexia
was in its 35th consecutive year as Statutory Auditor, respectively
21 years and 31 years since the Company’s shares were first listed
for trading on a regulated market.

Responsibility of management 
and persons charged with governance 
in relation to the consolidated financial 
statements
It is management’s responsibility to prepare consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the European Union, as well as to implement the
internal controls it deems necessary to prepare consolidated
financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

On preparing the consolidated financial statements, it is up to
management to assess the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, and to present in the financial statements, if applicable,
any necessary information relating to the continuity of operations
and apply the going concern assumption unless it is planned that
the Company will be liquidated or cease trading.

It is the responsibility of the Audit Committee to monitor the
process of preparing financial information and monitor the
effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems, as
well as internal audit, where applicable, as regards procedures
relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and
financial information.

The consolidated financial statements have been approved by the
Board of Directors.

Responsibilities of the Statutory 
Auditors relating to the audit 
of the consolidated financial statements

AUDIT AIM AND APPROACH

may be due to fraud or error and are considered material when it
can reasonably be expected that they may, taken individually or
combined, influence the financial decisions of users made on the
basis of the financial statements.

It is our responsibility to prepare a report on the consolidated
financial statements. Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance that
the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole are free of
material misstatement. Reasonable assurance corresponds to a high
level of assurance, although this does not guarantee that an audit
performed in accordance with professional standards systematically
allows for all material misstatements to be detected. Misstatements

As specified in Article L. 823-10-1 of the French Commercial Code,
our assignment of certifying the financial statements does not
consist of guaranteeing the viability or quality of your Company’s
management.

Within the framework of an audit performed in accordance with
professional standards applicable in France, the Statutory Auditor
uses its professional judgment throughout the audit process. In
addition:

it identifies and assesses the risk of the consolidated financialp

statements containing material misstatements, whether due to
fraud or error, defines and implements audit procedures in light
of these risks, and collects evidence that it deems sufficient and
appropriate to form a basis for its opinion. The risk of failure to
detect a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than in the
case of a material misstatement due to error, as fraud may
involve collusion, falsification, deliberate omissions, false
statements or circumvention of internal control procedures;

it familiarises itself with internal controls relevant for the audit inp

order to define appropriate audit procedures under the
circumstances, and not with the aim of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control procedures;

it assesses the appropriateness of accounting policies used andp

the reasonable nature of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as associated information provided in the
consolidated financial statements;

it assesses the appropriateness of management’s application ofp

the going concern principle and, depending on the evidence
collected, whether or not any material uncertainty exists relating
to events or circumstances that may call into question the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. This
assessment relies on evidence collected up to the date of its
report, noting that subsequent circumstances or events may call
into question the continuity of operations. If it concludes that a
material uncertainty exists, it shall draw readers’ attention to the
information provided in the consolidated financial statements
relating to this uncertainty or, if this information is not provided
or is not relevant, it shall give a qualified certification or refuse to
certify the financial statements;

it assesses the overall presentation of the consolidated financialp

statements and evaluates whether the consolidated financial
statements reflect underlying transactions and events in a way
that gives a true and fair view;

as regards financial information from persons or entities withinp

the scope of consolidation, it collects information that it deems
sufficient and appropriate to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. It is responsible for the
management, supervision and performance of the audit of the
consolidated financial statements as well as the opinion expressed
on these financial statements.
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REPORT TO THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
We send a report to the Audit Committee setting out in particular
the scope of our audit work and the programme of works carried
out, as well as the conclusions of our work. We also bring to its
attention, if applicable, any significant weaknesses in internal
control procedures that we have identified as regards procedures
relating to the preparation and treatment of accounting and
financial information.

been the most significant for our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the financial year and which therefore constitute key
audit matters, which it is our duty to describe in this report.

The information provided in the report to the Audit Committee
includes risks of material misstatement, which we deem to have

We also provide the Audit Committee with the declaration required
by Article 6 of Regulation (EU) No. 537-2014 attesting to our
independence with the meaning of applicable regulations in France
as set out in particular by Articles L. 822-10 to L. 822-14 of the
French Commercial Code and in the French Code of Ethics for
Statutory Auditors. If applicable, we shall discuss with the Audit
Committee the risks to our independence and safeguarding
measures implemented.

Paris and Courbevoie, 04 March 2021

The Statutory Auditors

Aca Nexia

Olivier Juramie

Mazars

Bruno Pouget


